INTERNATIONAL BESTSELLING AUTHOR

DR. JASON SHUMARD, DC

HOW TO REVERSE YOUR DIABETES

UNCOVER THE HIDDEN CAUSES THAT ARE MAKING YOU SICK

"Dr. Shumard is one of the most intelligent, caring, and professional colleagues to whom I have had the pleasure of referring my San Diego patients. His level of professionalism is second to none. If he is able to bring you in, you will receive top-notch care for your diabetes, thyroid issues, and any other metabolic conditions."

-Dr. Stephen Wander

Uncover the Hidden Causes That Are Making You Sick

Dr. Jason Shumard, DC

Copyright 2018 by Dr. Jason Shumard, DC

No part of this publication may be reproduced by any mechanical, photographic, or electronic process, or in the form of a phonographic or audio recording: nor may it be stored in a retrieval system, transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording, scanning, or otherwise, except as permitted under Section 107 or 108 of the 1976 United States Copyright Act, without the prior written permission of the Publisher. Nor can it be copied for public or private use – other than for "fair use" as brief quotations embodied in articles and reviews without prior written permission of the publisher.

How to Reverse Your Diabetes
Uncover the Hidden Causes That Are Making You Sick
ISBN: 978-1-944721-36-7
Author: Dr. Jason Shumard, DC

LIMITS OF LIABILITY / DISCLAIMER OF WARRANTY: The content of this book is provided for information purposes only and not replace the advice and counsel of a Doctor of Chiropractic nor constitute a doctor-patient relationship. NEVER DISREGARD MEDICAL ADVICE, OR DELAY SEEKING TREATMENT, BECAUSE OF INFORMATION THAT YOU HAVE READ IN THIS BOOK. The information presented is not to be considered complete, nor does it contain all medical resource information that may be relevant, and therefore is not intended as a substitute for seeking appropriate care.

Any views or opinions presented in this book are solely those of the author and do not represent those of the publisher.

All content, including text, graphics, images and information available in this book are for educational purposes only and are not sufficient for medical decisions. The content is not intended to be a substitute for professional medical advice, diagnosis or treatment.

By using this book you agree to hold harmless and shall not seek remedy from Dr. Jason Shumard, DC, or publisher, TBP, LLC. The author and publisher disclaim all liability to you for damages, costs and expenses, including legal fees because of your reliance on anything derived from this book, and furthermore assume no liability for any and all claims arising out of the said use... regardless of the cause, effect or fault.

1st Printing, March 2018 Printed in the United States of America

Dedication

I dedicate this book to my family. To my amazing wife Michelle, who is my rock and best friend. Thank you for pushing me every day to be my best. To my two amazing children Breck and Paige, who bring so much joy to my life every day.

To my Mom and Dad who have supported me throughout my life and my siblings Jeff, Velynda, and Rhett.

To my in-laws Mike and Linda, thank you for being there for me over the years. To my sister-in-law who is more of a sister, thank you for all that you do for me; you are an amazing person.

I feel blessed to have such an amazing, loving family.

Last but not least, I dedicate this book to all of my mentors throughout the years who have guided me to become the doctor I am today.

Acknowledgments



I want to give a very special thank you to my soulmate, my wife. She has been there for me through the ups and downs and stood by me through it all. There were times when I was ready to throw in the towel, but she was always there to help get me back on my feet. I am so blessed to have her in my life.

I want to thank all the coaches in my life that help me understand the "never give up" mentality. I have lived by this motto my entire life. There have been many times where it would have been so much easier to just give up. I am so glad I never gave in to those temptations.

I want to thank all the professional mentors I've had that have inspired me to be the doctor that I am today. I am blessed to have the opportunity to help so many people, and I attribute that to their longstanding support and guidance.

Lastly, I want to thank the thousands of patients that I have had the pleasure to work with throughout my career. It is because of you that I do what I do. Thank you.

Table of Contents

Introduction to the Doctor	8
The Patient's Story	14
The Doctor's Frustration	26
The Patient's Frustration	34
The Treatment Myth	39
Food Marketing and Diabetes	40
What Is Type 2 Diabetes?	44
Some Common Myths About Type 2 Diabetes	60
Common Causes of Type 2 Diabetes	69
Epigenetics	82
The Foundations of Good Health	96
Success Stories	112

1

Introduction to the Doctor

Since I was a child, I have always wanted to get into the healthcare field. I grew up as an athlete who experienced multiple injuries and was intrigued by the healing nature of the body. I worked in a physical therapy office one summer and had so much fun seeing patients recover from injuries and surgeries. I knew then that I wanted to become a physical therapist and help people.

I started college and was on the path to becoming a physical therapist. However, something changed midway through my education at San Diego State University. For extra credit hours, I worked in different hospital settings and offices throughout San Diego. The passion I had previously felt wasn't there anymore, and I decided I did not want to become a physical therapist. I was lost and didn't know what to do. Here I was, halfway through my education, taking numerous science, biology, and chemistry classes and then decided to change my career choice. I knew that I still wanted to be in the medical field but which specialty I should focus on was still a question I couldn't answer.

I grew up as a sick child. I had asthma, allergies, and frequent colds. I constantly took medications but never connected or resonated with the medical industry as far as medications and pharmaceuticals.

One day, a chiropractor came to speak in one of my classes at San Diego State. Everything he said about chiropractic struck a chord with me. He spoke about how chiropractic was a science, philosophy, and art and how the body had an amazing ability to heal itself without the use of medications and surgery. It was as if he was speaking directly to me; this was the answer I was seeking. I admit that there is a time and place for medication and

surgery, but I am sure you agree it is grossly overused.

I had never been to a chiropractor. I didn't know anything about the profession. To be honest, I didn't even know chiropractors were doctors. I began researching everything I could on chiropractic. Everything I read got me more excited about this path. I took a leap of faith, and when I graduated from San Diego State University, I enrolled at Life Chiropractic College West. That wound up being one of the best decisions I've ever made.

The four years of Chiropractic College just flew by. What many people do not know is that a Doctor of Chiropractic has the same, if not more, hours of classroom studies as a Doctor of Medicine. The only real differences are that traditional medical doctors study pharmaceuticals and they are required to do a longer residency. A Doctor of Chiropractic has four national boards that they have to pass and a state licensure they must obtain.

After graduation, I moved back to San Diego from the San Francisco Bay area. I knew that I wanted to settle down in San Diego and raise a family. I had planned to take a few months off and just relax, surf, and enjoy life before starting to work full-time.

One day I visited a chiropractic office in the area where I was living. Without even looking for a job, it turned into an interview, and the chiropractor hired me on the spot! I was there for eight months and learned many valuable lessons. I had always wanted my own practice, and when I decided that I was ready to move on, I got a loan from my father and opened my own office. That was in January of 2005. I will always be grateful to my dad for helping me.

Approximately three years into my practice, I met a functional medicine practitioner at a networking group. In school, I was very interested in functional medicine, but with all the classes and studying I couldn't add anything more to my busy schedule.

My practice was going well as a traditional chiropractic office. I had added massage therapy services as an adjunct to chiropractic. I noticed that many of my patients had other ailments along with traditional spinal pain. They had chronic degenerative diseases, fibromyalgia, heart disease, diabetes, autoimmune diseases, and hypothyroidism, and that's just to name a few. As their doctor, I wanted to do more than just help their back pain in order to improve their overall health.

I began attending seminars to learn more about functional medicine, and it became my new passion. I learned quickly and started to implement functional medicine protocols with my patients. As more patients were getting better, my obsession to learn even more about this incredible field grew as well. I love celebrating with my patients when they are able to get off medications and feel good again! Throughout this book, I will be giving you story after story of real patients and how they were able to regain their health

With the addition of functional medicine in my practice, I now have what I envisioned when I was coming out of Chiropractic College. I now operate a true healing center. The name of my practice is Integrative Wellness Center of San Diego. I believe that the body has the ability to heal on its own if the environment is right and everything is functioning optimally. When things are not right, symptoms will arise. Rather than suppress the symptoms with medications, why not address the underlying causes. This

is the functional medicine approach, and the approach I take with every one of my patients.

I started working with Type 2 diabetics over the years and have helped countless people get better. I have seen a number of my diabetic patients even become non-diabetic. It has been so gratifying to work with these patients and help them get their life back.

What I have heard so many times over the years is that diabetes can't be reversed. I am here to tell you that is untrue and it's the reason I decided to write this book. There are countless research studies that state you can reverse Type 2 Diabetes. I see it happen in my office every day. I will go into more detail about that later in the book.

I have a passion for helping people and for improving the overall health of my community. When I work with my patients, I get involved in their personal lives to establish what their goals are and what are they looking to accomplish regarding their health.

On a personal note, my wife Michelle and I live in San Diego. I met her 20 years ago when we were both working in a restaurant, during my undergrad days at San Diego State University. We were married 10 years ago in Breckenridge, Colorado. I waited a little longer than I probably should have to ask her to marry me, but we were young, and I wanted to get through school and establish my practice.

We have twins, a boy named Breck (after Breckenridge where we were married) and a girl, Paige. Being a parent is challenging but such a blessing. They are everything to me!

When the twins were born, we received so many gifts from patients. It is amazing to see all the relationships that have been established with patients throughout the years. It's a true testament to what we do and not only the results we get, but the excitement they have when they come into our office

I am blessed to be able to do what I love. My life has been very fulfilling, and I'm looking forward to the next 20, 30, 40-plus years of helping others in my community. I am very excited about what the future brings, both professionally and personally!

2

The Patient's Story

Does this sound familiar to you?

You pick up the phone and an unanticipated sense of concern runs through your body as you hear someone from your doctor's office say, "We have your lab results and the doctor needs to meet with you." It was just a routine exam. What could possibly be wrong? Still confused, you apprehensively meet with your doctor who says, "I'm sorry to tell you this, but your test results reveal that you have Type 2 Diabetes."

Before the words of this alarming diagnosis have even been fully communicated from your doctor's mouth, he or she is already writing out your first prescription for oral diabetic medication. They hand you the paper and tell you that "you're going to need to change your diet, lose weight, and exercise." You don't even know where to start to change your diet, or what exercises to perform. You feel condemned to taking medication, and likely insulin injections, for the rest of your life. You struggle with the fact that your life, as you have known it, is going to drastically change, and you wonder to yourself, "What will life be like now?"

You feel panicked, sad, confused, scared, and perhaps in denial. As a relatively uninformed patient, you fully accept the instructions your doctor has recommended. The problem, however, is that you have no roadmap or comprehensive plan to guide you through what you actually need to do. Unfortunately, your traditionally-trained doctor, who utilizes the standard drug therapy model of care, may not really understand how to better help you either. In many cases, it's highly likely your doctor is very well meaning. It is also highly likely that your doctor feels ill-equipped and even jaded by the direction being taken. Many traditional healthcare providers feel handcuffed by

the drug therapy model as they experience the obstacles it creates for optimal patient outcomes. They are commonly not well versed in emerging research, new clinical applications, dietary approaches, etc. Again, it is not that they are ill-intentioned; it's just that most often they are not adequately trained to deal with many of the chronic and degenerative diseases afflicting today's patient population.

Even if you've been referred to and consulted by a registered dietitian who provides you with a dietary plan, you most likely have been given a generic one-size-fits-all program. This program commonly revolves around you restricting your calories, consuming smaller portions, avoiding fats, not eating too late at night, eating more fruits and vegetables, eating less meat...well, you get the picture. Unfortunately, this approach is usually not sufficient to stop what has become, for many, the inevitable progression of your disease.

Throughout this book, you will uncover little-known facts, strategies, and clinical pearls explaining why these often antiquated instructions may be ineffective in significantly improving your health. For now, however, just understand that the tools and methods you've been given up to this point in time are often part of the problem.

**This is an important time to reinforce a few crucial aspects of this book. This book is for informational purposes only. It is certainly not intended to take the place of appropriate medical care. The information should not be used as an impetus to start, stop, or delay proper medical care. Please consult your healthcare provider before making any changes to your currently prescribed recommendations.

For many of you, common health recommendations may

also be the reason your health has been diminishing over time. The treatment and advice you've been given so far may not only be ineffective – it may actually be extremely dangerous. It's common knowledge that many drug therapy approaches may essentially make your condition worse over time. It's also well-known and documented that drug therapy comes with significant risks of further complications.

Ask yourself this: How many times have you had to increase your medication?

How many "special" diets have you tried that haven't changed the course of your disease?

Did you begin and stick to an exercise program? Has it made any difference?

Often the answer to these questions is NO! For so many Type 2 diabetic patients, the condition only seems to worsen with time despite all the medications, insulin injections, radical and life-altering diets, attempts at exercise, etc.

At some point you have to ask yourself, am I on the right path?

Do I have the right information?

As a healthcare provider who practices in a functional health model and focuses on patients with Type 2 Diabetes, I know your story all too well. I empathize with your frustration because I am frustrated as well.

Why am I frustrated, you might ask?

I am frustrated because you are likely not being told the entire truth!

The Type 2 diabetics I've seen all share similar stories, and I bet it's very similar to yours. Millions of Americans are suffering from Type 2 Diabetes. Based on my clinical experience, many of them are suffering needlessly and unnecessarily, as I believe this epidemic is one of the most mismanaged conditions in recent history.

Since your diagnosis, have you worried about the complications this disease may cause?

Have you feared that you may one day lose your eyesight, have a limb amputated, or develop other diseases because of your diabetes?

Have you even felt the anguish that your life may be cut short?

Have you witnessed family members, friends, or coworkers suffer through the disease and the accumulating amount of drugs they've had to endure? Have you seen first-hand the many complications they've had to deal with, and watched their quality of life diminish?

Unfortunately, these are the sad realities many patients face when they are stricken with this very dangerous and life-altering disease.

Did you know that the United States makes up only 5% of the world population, yet we consume 75% of the medications produced in the world? Our society has become heavily dependent upon drugs because we are conditioned into believing that pharmaceuticals provide us with an easy and quick fix. If this were true, the United

States should rank among the healthiest nations. The reality is that the World Health Organization ranks us at #46. It is apparent that just having access to (and taking) all kinds of medications is not the answer for experiencing good health. At times they are necessary, and when they are it is a blessing that we have access. However, the rate at which they are used is staggering!

You may already be one of the millions of patients who have taken medication after medication and insulin injection after insulin injection. If you are newly diagnosed or an individual whose Type 2 Diabetes seems to be "under control," you may think the medication is working and you'll be fine as long as you continue taking it. Please do not be short-sighted here. If all you ever do is take prescription medications, diet, exercise, and try to control your weight, you are quite possibly setting yourself up for disaster. There is certainly a time and place for prescription medication; however, you and I know they are massively overused, and that overuse can have very damaging consequences.

Obviously, drug therapy is not always a bad thing. For example, if you wind up in the emergency room because your blood sugar has spiked to unsafe levels, then a drug or insulin injection that can lower your blood sugar rapidly is certainly appropriate and should be used. Drugs are necessary for crisis and traumatic situations. They are needed and appropriate when stabilizing an emergency situation. But in our society, prescription medications have become grossly overused, misused, and abused. As for treating the daily symptoms of Type 2 Diabetes, this form of drug abuse, in my opinion, is most definitely too prevalent.

When you were diagnosed with Type 2 Diabetes, it's likely you were prescribed metformin. This pharmaceutical is typically the first drug of choice for the majority of doctors who treat Type 2 Diabetes. You were likely initially prescribed 1,000 mg daily, though this varies by individuals. At first, it seemed to work, but when you followed-up with your doctor six to eight months later, you were surprised to find out that your A1C had gone up! The solution? Your doctor increased the dose to 2,000 mg per day - the accepted maximum dose. Again, you're okay for some time, but eventually this dose stopped working, too. As you know, when your A1C is not properly controlled, you're at risk for other complications – the very complications you've feared since you were first diagnosed, and the very complications you thought your medication would prevent. But no, that isn't the case. Instead, your doctor prescribes a new medication, and so the cycle begins.

The little-discussed truth is that when Type 2 Diabetes isn't approached comprehensively, it may very well get worse. Despite trying medication after medication with everincreasing doses, the disease progresses, leaving you feeling as if you're rolling down a hill uncontrollably, grasping for something – anything – to help stop this forward motion

A significant part of this drug overuse and misuse dilemma is that when the body becomes accustomed to medication, it begins to require greater quantities of the same medication to provide the same benefits. You have to ask yourself, if you continue to have to increase your medications, are they actually working to fix the problem? I'll discuss this more in-depth in a later chapter, but if this is indeed true, there must be a better, safer, and more effective solution to restoring normal function. The good

news is that there is a better solution!

In my time treating Type 2 diabetics, it is not unusual to see patients take multiple medications for "controlling" their blood sugar and additional symptoms. It's similar to putting a Band-Aid on the problem. It's also not uncommon to see patients who are taking all of these prescriptions at their maximum dosages. On top of oral medications, many patients are required to take insulin to regulate their blood sugar. In addition, patients are often taking two, three, or four high blood pressure medications. Frequently piled on top of that are prescriptions to lower cholesterol. And this isn't even the end! Many patients also take a plethora of other medications to manage side effects and complications of their diabetes.

This process might be considered an acceptable approach when dealing with Type 2 Diabetes if it in fact worked for patients. However, for many patients, their symptoms and lab results remain abnormal and troublesome. In addition to the many serious side effects that can be caused by the different drugs you're taking, your body is also dealing with this potentially toxic soup of medications. You may not be aware that these medications can even have adverse reactions to each other. Based on this truth, it is clear to me that the majority of the Type 2 diabetic population isn't experiencing a permanent solution with this approach. For those of you who still think you are on the right path, hold on to this book and keep reading!

You need to understand that without a truly comprehensive and customized approach, Type 2 Diabetes is destined to worsen and likely never go away. The pharmaceutical-based treatment you are receiving along with the nutritional intervention is obviously not, as they say, cutting the mustard. There should be no escalation of dosage and

drugs. In other words, if the approach worked to fix the underlying problem, there would be no need to escalate treatment. Some would argue that the increasing need for medication is just the normal course of the condition. While that may in part be true, I believe that it speaks much more of the negligence for what is actually causing this disease.

If you've had this disease long enough, you've likely been graduated to new and different drugs numerous times. If you have recently been diagnosed with Type 2 Diabetes, I can almost promise you that this is the course you're bound to end up on. That is unless you take the information in this book and my message seriously.

If your quality of life is diminishing, you must consider a different direction. Think about yourself and your relationships. Your attitude about life and how you relate to others all begins with how you feel. You are meant to be happy, healthy, and independent. You should feel exhilarated and inspired to live each day feeling as good as possible. If you are suffering, fearful, and sad, it affects your relationships, work and all aspects of your health as well. If your diabetes is causing you this kind of pain, then diabetes is stealing your life! It doesn't have to, and it may not if you take proper action!

This book is meant to help you discover the one thing that will give you back your life.

Type 2 Diabetes is REVERSIBLE!!!

You may find that hard to believe and may wonder why your healthcare provider hasn't told you this. Your healthcare provider may have even told you that it cannot be reversed. They may have told you that the best you can do is take one medication after another, and

unsuccessfully try to diet and lose weight for the rest of your life in an attempt to slow down the inevitable progression of your disease.

This is not true. I see the clinical results every day indicating that Type 2 Diabetes can be reversed. In all of the cases I have accepted into care, I have rarely seen a patient fail. There are various reasons for this success, many of which you will discover as you continue to read this book.

You're probably skeptical, I get it. You've already been told so many things that have supposedly been in your best interest, yet you continue to struggle. All I can ask is that you put your natural cynicism aside and maintain an open mind. There is no reason for you to continue to suffer from this disease any longer unless your health is not your number one priority.

So what does it mean when I say that Type 2 Diabetes is reversible? Here's what I see with my patients:

- They are able to reduce their need and dependency on drugs and insulin.
- They are able to lower and stabilize their blood sugar while getting off of their medications (with doctor supervision).
- Patients lose weight, commonly without exercise.
- Patients increase their energy levels.
- Results show a reduction and elimination of risks for complications common to diabetes.
- Pre- and post-labs data is irrefutable evidence; the patient is reversing their condition!
- Patients achieve the clinical status of non-diabetics.

We are fortunate to have medications available that can

save lives in life-threatening and traumatic circumstances. However, Type 2 Diabetes is a chronic illness that can be managed, controlled, and reversed by a number of different interventions.

There is a choice to be made, and it is imperative that you make it now. We all know the risks of diabetes: blindness, kidney failure, neuropathy, heart disease, and more. If you are reading this and are already experiencing these complications, you most likely have felt the frustration, fear, and panic of being told there is not much more you can do. If you are newly diagnosed, you may believe you have this disease under control. I urge you not to ignore it. Once you develop one complication, others quickly develop soon after.

DO NOT TAKE THIS DISEASE LIGHTLY!

DO NOT WAIT UNTIL IT'S THAT BAD!

Not taking proper action to deal with Type 2 Diabetes can be a death sentence. If you are lucky enough that this disease does not cut your life short, it will for sure rob you of your independence and overall quality of life.

Reading this book is the first step in educating yourself and taking proper action.

Just imagine the possibilities:

- No more drugs
- No more insulin injections
- Restored energy
- Controlled blood sugar (without drugs or insulin)
- Reduced risk of diabetic complications and premature death

To find the solution you have to know the cause. I can assure you it's not what you've been told and not what you think it is.

3

The Doctor's Frustration

As a healthcare provider, I've seen my fair share of chronically ill patients, many of whom are trapped in the grips of the Type 2 Diabetes clinical scene. Why? Because the "epidemic" called Type 2 Diabetes is, in my opinion, one of the most mismanaged conditions in recent history. Most Type 2 diabetics are seldom provided with more than a one-size-fits-all plan of so-called action, given general orders to take medication, change their diet, lose weight, and exercise. For so many, this is proving not to be effective at all.

In fact, the treatment regimen many patients are prescribed may not only be unhelpful, but also make their condition and overall health worse over time.

I believe there is a lot more to the Type 2 Diabetes story than patients are being exposed to.

What you likely have been told by your healthcare provider is that Type 2 Diabetes is a chronic, degenerative disease, meaning it's going to get worse over time and never go away. You've also likely been told to expect to experience debilitating complications as the disease progresses – complications you can't avoid and should just "accept."

This is all likely true; that is if all you do to manage your condition is take one drug after another, and diet and exercise yourself into oblivion.

If the only advice your healthcare provider has given you is to take your multitude of medications, inject yourself with insulin, diet, lose weight, and exercise, then I believe you are on the wrong path.

In a sea of nutritional programs and fad diets, which one is right for you? How exactly are you supposed to lose

weight? What type of exercise regimen should you do? Is exercise even right for you at this point in time?

The nondescript guidance delivered by your healthcare provider is often an inadequate solution for your personal health challenges, setting you up for failure from day one. Why? Because the information is too vague and is absolutely not customized to you as an individual with unique health needs.

My frustration with this cycle of poor information stems from knowing with certainty that Type 2 Diabetes is not only something that can be controlled, but is actually reversible!

Yes, Type 2 Diabetes IS REVERSIBLE!

My patients and I have experienced firsthand some of the following benefits from my clinical approach:

- Reducing and eliminating the need for prescription medications and insulin injections
- Weight loss (commonly without exercise)
- Reducing and eliminating risks for diabetic complications
- · Increased energy levels and quality of life
- Even achieving a clinical status of non-diabetic

Perhaps what is even more eye-opening for me as a healthcare provider are the horror stories told to me by patients who have been run through the gauntlet of the Type 2 Diabetes circus. These firsthand accounts of misuse and abuse have really shaped the way I view the state of our health care system.

What is most frustrating to me is to see one patient after

another come to me telling of the same, cookie-cutter advice given to them by their healthcare provider that fails to address the underlying cause(s) of the problem. I've seen too many Type 2 diabetic patients go from one healthcare provider to the next, only to receive the same general and ineffective advice.

It's not unusual to see a Type 2 diabetic patient taking eight to 10 different oral medications (or more!), injecting themselves with insulin multiple times per day, struggling to diet and lose weight, and attempting to exercise – and no better for their health.

Despite all their efforts, many patients' lives are being ruined by Type 2 Diabetes. The worst part? Most patients are suffering needlessly.

But I know what is possible. Every day, I see patients in my office who have reversed their condition. I see patients who have succeeded in getting their health and their life back. Most importantly, I rarely see patients fail.

When I started working with diabetics, I began to see significant results. I still remember my first patient, a referral from a networking group where I was a member. When she came in, she was at her wits' end. She was taking multiple units of insulin throughout the day and was frustrated. Sadly, she had basically given up on life, and said, this may be the end. She was taking approximately 50-plus units of insulin a day, which is a significant amount. Within six months, she was completely off insulin and had normal hemoglobin AIC, as a non-diabetic again. To this day, she still checks in and is doing great. She is doing everything on her own regarding managing her health, and that is exciting to us.

Many people with diabetes have an excess of insulin in their bodies, which often desensitizes the insulin receptors. Taking high levels of insulin can perpetuate the problem and can cause you to become more resistant to insulin. The standard reaction is to take even more insulin. However, many patients are unaware that high levels of insulin increase the risk for cardiovascular disease, kidney damage, cancer, and stroke. Insulin is also a fat-storing hormone, which means that it promotes weight gain, all the while you're being told to lose weight. It is important to be aware that weight gain is most often a symptom of the problem, not necessarily the cause. You cannot diet and exercise your way out of this condition, yet this is the information most diabetics are given.

I've met with so many patients who all tell a similar story. They were diagnosed and given medication that appeared to work for a period of time, but eventually had to increase their dosage as the previous dose was no longer effective. When the higher dose failed, they were prescribed a different type of medication, followed by another and another.

Another patient I treated was a very sick gentleman when he arrived at our door. He was nearly at the stage of kidney failure and approximately 30-45 days away from dialysis. He took 100-plus units of insulin daily, as well as 12-15 oral medications every day. He could barely walk 15 steps; he was that ill. When we began working with him, he quickly started healing and losing weight.

I remember about two months after beginning care he came in one day. Both he and his wife were very teary-eyed. They told me that he was able to walk around the mall with her for the first time. It was really exciting to hear the news, and I realized that what we're doing is making a major impact on people's lives. This is what motivates me

to help as many Type 2 diabetics as I can. I still see him from time to time. He is doing very well and living life to its fullest. He's now off insulin and is taking half the medications he was at the time. His kidneys are functioning much better now according to his kidney doctor. He made some dramatic changes in his life. While he definitely still has room for improvement, he is doing great and continues to allow his body to go through the process of healing.

This was obviously an example of a very sick patient, and as you can see the medications were not solving the problem. This is especially troubling for me, since the massive amount of medications he was taking were apparently not helping to correct the cause of his condition. Despite all of the so-called treatment, the patient was deteriorating mentally and physically.

Some patients who reach this paradox stop taking their medications completely – and it's not uncommon for them to feel better once they do so! This feeling of improvement is likely due to the fact that they are no longer experiencing the side effects associated with their potentially toxic cocktail of medications.

However, while they may begin to feel better, it's still possible that blood sugar can spike to dangerous levels, which can be very dangerous and is not the outcome we want to see. So back to their medications they go. The vicious cycle goes on and on until the patient realizes that they must try something different.

The most challenging part for me as a functional health practitioner is that I have no control over when patients will reach that crossroad. Unfortunately, many patients wait too long to seek a different direction of treatment. They stand

by until they are suffering from debilitating complications like neuropathy, loss of eyesight, or even a loss of a limb – a point at which their quality of life is so poor that they struggle to recall a time when they weren't "sick."

In one particular case, I accepted a woman into care who was very ill with diabetes on a Thursday. We received a message from her family on the following Monday, prior to even starting care, that she was in intensive care at the local hospital. She had suffered a massive heart attack. I didn't even have a chance to help her as she had waited too long to get the necessary help to change her life.

Please do not let this happen to you...

You cannot take a backseat in the management of this condition, as time is truly of the essence. You may think everything is under control since you currently feel fine, but how you feel is a very poor indicator of your health! This "feeling" can change rapidly and with it your health status – all without any warning.

This is why I am writing this book. It is my obligation to you to spread the word and reach as many Type 2 diabetics as possible. There is hope. This condition can be reversed – and I've got the clinical results to back it up.

It is disheartening to see so many people with Type 2 Diabetes who have given up hope on finding a way to reclaim their health and their lives. It does not have to be this way; this can be the wake-up call that will change your life.

The traditional medical model follows a reactive approach instead of a proactive approach. I'm confident that if they knew what we knew, they would certainly do what we do! If

they did, I am confident that their patients would see the results my patients see.

There is a way out! There is a light at the end of the tunnel and it's not a freight train barreling down on your health and life. Don't wait until it's too late, but more importantly don't ever give up. You can reclaim your health and your life because you may be able to reverse your Type 2 Diabetes.

4

The Patient's Frustration

Type 2 diabetic patients are often very frustrated for a variety of reasons. One common reason for frustration arises out of fear and uncertainty. Upon receiving the initial diagnosis, patients are often taken aback. They immediately wonder what their life will look like and what this disease will ultimately do to them. They often worry about how the diagnosis will impact their loved ones and those for whom they are responsible.

Patients go to doctors to find out what is wrong and to get a diagnosis. However, ultimately, they look to their healthcare providers to provide solutions. They not only want a solution, but they want the best solutions. They not only want effective solutions but also want and deserve solutions that are safe.

Maybe more than that, patients look to their healthcare providers for leadership, expertise, and knowledge. At the end of the day, patients are patients. They are not doctors. They are not equipped with the schooling and knowledge of doctors. They look to us for a transference of knowledge and know-how to properly handle what is a life-threatening situation.

Now let's look at our mainstream healthcare system as it exists today. Flat out...IT IS BROKEN! It is ripe with dysfunction created by many factors to include bureaucracy, waste, incompetence, and providers that are overworked. The dysfunction in our healthcare system often leads to a treatment approach that lacks comprehensiveness, customization, and empathy. It is all too common for a patient to receive rushed and cookiecutter recommendations that are so often dominated by a drug therapy approach.

Now I realize that not much is perfect in our world, and

maybe it will never be. If I am in an emergency situation please take my loved ones or me to the nearest emergency room in the United States. However, 70% of people who die in the United States die due to a chronic and degenerative health condition. Unfortunately, this is where the gaps are located. If you are suffering from a chronic and degenerative condition like Type 2 Diabetes you are likely destined to be recommended one drug after another and be given such basic recommendations as to change your diet, lose weight, and exercise. I have to tell you from my direct experience, that is not enough in many cases.

Many people with diabetes are frustrated and disappointed with their treatment approaches. They are frustrated with the lack of options and alternatives, their doctor's bedside manner, and overall lack of results. They are often diagnosed on a routine visit, given their first prescription, told to lose weight, change their diet, and exercise. Sadly, this is commonly the extent to which Type 2 diabetics are managed on Day 1 of their diagnosis. And even more heartbreaking, this is the extent to which diabetics are managed for the rest of their life.

So with prescriptions in hand and instructions from your doctor to diet and exercise, you think to yourself, "Oh, I can handle this." But does this approach really help? You are taking your medication. You are exercising and controlling your diet. Has the status of your diabetes actually improved? Unfortunately, this generalized treatment plan too often leaves patients just like you worse off than when they started, headed down a path of worsening health with no relief in sight.

I know this book is starting out with a lot of doom and gloom that you are likely already aware of. I know you want

me to get to the essentials of what you need to do to reverse this situation and condition. And I will get to that! However, it is important that I lay the groundwork for you, so that you are able to make a good decision for yourself and for your family. It is also important to me to provide you with proper context as I have seen many Type 2 diabetic patients in complete denial. I have also seen many that have no clue about the risks involved.

Your treatment plan is likely precisely the problem. Many doctors treat patients with Type 2 Diabetes pretty much the same: they fail to look a little deeper, ask more questions, and uncover the real source of your health problems. The truth is, Type 2 Diabetes isn't really a high blood sugar **problem** – it's rooted in far more complex processes. However, at the end of the day, many healthcare providers are playing the "blood sugar game" as it relates to your diabetic condition. Meaning the goal is to, at all costs, lower your blood sugar to levels that have been determined to be safe. Now there is no doubt that high blood sugar can be devastating to your body. But, ask yourself the following question. Why do Type 2 diabetics, who have their blood sugar "under control" so often, still suffer from one or more diabetic complications? I would suggest to you it is because there are things going on underneath the surface of high blood sugar that are not being addressed by the decreasing of blood sugar levels. Said another way there is way more to the story.

The blood sugar lowering game is also played with other issues as well. Many Type 2 diabetics also have high blood pressure and high cholesterol. As you may have experienced, they also get drugs to lower those markers to safe levels as well. There is often no inspection as to what might be causing those issues in the first place.

The overall point I am trying to get you to see is this. At a very basic level if you can no longer regulate your blood sugar on your own, then something must be broken. It would stand to reason that in order to solve the problem you must find out what is broken and devise a plan to fix it. Do you think the problem is that you are deficient in one or more pharmaceutical agents? If you think the problem is that you are ill-fated and just genetically determined to be ill, then you are certainly limiting yourself. If you think it's just because you are overweight, lazy, and have poor lifestyle habits, then you have been misled. Again, Type 2 Diabetes, and even Type 1, maybe even especially Type 1, is not a blood sugar disease. High blood sugar is just a symptom. Standard recommendations often fail to address the symptoms of deeper and more complicated problems. Who pays the price for that? You got it! You and your family.

But how are you supposed to know all of this? You are not the doctor. You are the patient. As mentioned, this condition is looked at and treated as a high blood sugar issue, and much of the information you are receiving seems to revolve around your blood sugar levels.

Your healthcare provider likely only wants to review your monthly glucose readings. You are trying to improve your diet. You are more aware of "sugar" in your diet. Everything that seems to be "diabetes-friendly" at the grocery store is covered in statements like "low in sugar!" and "sugar-free!"

The truth is a lot of the information you're being bombarded with is misleading or plain wrong. A lot of this information can actually be harmful to your health and worsen your condition.

How does it make you feel to know that your efforts to attempt to keep your condition under control may be making it worse? Well, I can tell you how it makes me feel as a healthcare practitioner who knows better. Disappointed and mad. I'm here to help set the record straight. I'm going to shine a light on the misinformation you have been receiving so you can start to truly understand what is harmful and what is helpful, and most importantly, how to get yourself on the path back to health.

The Treatment Myth

Yes, Type 2 Diabetes is a treatable condition, but the majority of the medications administered to diabetes patients only address symptoms of the condition, and don't resolve any of the underlying causes. I'm sure you've experienced this firsthand. You likely take at least one oral medication to help control your blood sugar levels, and if you have more advanced diabetes, you may also need to take multiple oral medications and even daily insulin shots. This is not to mention the cholesterol and blood pressure lowering medications that are all too common. Is your diabetes improving? Are your blood sugar levels responding in a positive way? Do you actually feel any better?

For so many people with Type 2 Diabetes, the answer to these questions is no. Based on a typical drug therapy treatment model, the only way to address the negative results is to prescribe more medication. The overuse of medications is one of the greatest frustrations for people living with Type 2 Diabetes. For people with insulin resistance, injecting large amounts of insulin into the body may only make the underlying problems worse, not help to correct it

From a lifestyle perspective, the addition of medications to your daily routine also diminishes your quality of life. I mean have you ever read the potential side effects of the drugs you are taking? It's actually a good exercise. Make a list of all the negative and life-altering symptoms on one side. Then make a list of all the potential side effects of the drugs you take and observe the correlation. It's quite shocking. If patients had to deal with some negative side effects, but would be assured the results would be satisfactory, they might sign up for that. However, it's often a "no win" situation as the medications make them feel poorly and create risk, but often provide dissatisfactory results.

How does it make you feel when you have to excuse yourself before every meal to inject yourself with an insulin shot? Isn't it frustrating to think that all the time you spend trying to closely follow your doctor's treatment plan may be for nothing? Yes, slowing down the progression of the disease is important, but at the end of the day you know you deserve more.

I hear and feel your frustration, and I want to help. There is absolutely a time and place for medication, but in so many cases it is grossly overused to the point that it may be more harmful than helpful.

The pharmaceutical industry isn't the only one keeping you down.

Food Marketing and Diabetes

The exponential growth of Type 2 Diabetes has been directly attributed to an equally large explosion of food and health products marketed specifically to people with diabetes. There are entire aisles and even sections of

grocery stores dedicated to food and supplement products designed specifically for a diabetic "friendly" diet – or so they say.

While an aisle-full of food options, from packaged foods to sweet treats, may seem like a great thing – especially when you've received instructions from your doctor to change your diet – it can also be the most confusing and misleading aspect of being a Type 2 diabetic.

Labels with bold lettering that exclaim "low carb!" and "sugar-free!" may seem promising, but have you ever asked yourself how these food manufacturers keep that package of cookies tasting sweet without sugar? If you take a few moments to read the ingredients label, you'll be alarmed to see the laundry list of unnatural additives, notably man-made sweeteners, which turn that package of cookies into a chemical-laden mess.

Ingesting foods that contain these man-made artificial sweeteners can actually promote weight gain instead of loss and further complicate insulin resistance. Some studies also suggest that the use of artificial sweeteners like aspartame, saccharin, and sucralose could have serious consequences for your long-term health.

Much of the same pseudo-science that goes into these food products is also applied to the marketing of nutritional supplements. Many pills, powders, and meal replacement products marketed to diabetics can make your diabetes worse. What I am getting at is you have to be careful and make sure you are working with a healthcare provider that is able to give you the right information. It's not simple. It actually can be quite complicated. There is almost always a need for very specific customization.

The good news is that there is another way and there are healthcare providers who can help you turn it all around. "Functional Medicine" has been shown to help Type 2 diabetics REVERSE their condition. Functional medicine is a clinical model designed to treat you as an individual instead of a label. In other words, as a healthcare provider who works in a functional health model, I do not care that you have been labeled a Type 2 diabetic. What is more important to me is what has caused your Type 2 Diabetes. And I am not referring to the outdated, overused, and often inaccurate perspective that, it's your genetics, weight, or dietary habits.

As the patient, you have to make the decision to break out of the cycle. If you don't feel like you're receiving the best care and if your health is not improving, don't you think it's time to look for answers elsewhere?

Reversing Type 2 Diabetes requires extremely thorough testing that ultimately leads to a comprehensive diagnosis and a customized care plan. I cannot tell you how many patients have told me, "Oh my doctor is very thorough...he or she has run all of the tests." Let me tell you how many times that this has been the case. NEVER! Not once in my experience! One person's idea of thorough is only predicated on their training, philosophy, tools, and the bureaucracy that often influences their decision-making process.

A comprehensive approach to the diagnosis and treatment of any condition, but especially Type 2 Diabetes, involves detailed health information. You need an exhaustive panel of tests to examine the functionality of not just your endocrine system, but also many other bodily systems that contribute to endocrine health. You also need a personalized plan that addresses your specific deficiencies

in a way that is suitable for your current health status. If all you get is the same basic recommendations as the next diabetic, do not be surprised when you get the same basic results. I think we can all agree that the typical results are appalling.

Type 2 Diabetes is not a one-size-fits-all condition. There are many different causes for Type 2 Diabetes. Patients often have their own unique situation. There is no specific blanket diet plan or formula that applies to every patient. Your body is unique, and therefore your treatment plan should be unique as well.

If you haven't received this kind of care, don't you think you deserve it? The decisions you make today can affect the rest of your life. Don't let yourself wither away while it passes you by. There are solutions and people out there ready and willing to help you regain your health. You deserve the best! You just have to seek it out and take action when the opportunity presents itself.

5

What Is Type 2 Diabetes?

This is Not Your Grandfather's Diabetes

The information that we've learned about diabetes over the last several decades has vastly changed the landscape of this disease, from causes to management. Changes in the types and quality of foods we eat and environmental factors that had little bearing on our lives years ago are now major contributors to the Type 2 Diabetes epidemic we are witnessing today.

But before we get further into discussing Type 2 Diabetes, let's review the foundation of diabetes as a general condition. It's important to know what you're up against, and it's quite possible you've been given incomplete and even misleading information about your condition. I'm going to attempt to set the record straight.

The Basics

Disclaimer: The information you are about to read has been purposefully simplified so that you, the patient, can read and fully understand it. There are many more intricate details and bodily processes that contribute to diabetes, but understanding the basics of how your body metabolizes glucose and how things can go awry is the most vital information that you, as the patient, need to know.

The food we eat serves as fuel for our body. Once digested, certain foods, such as carbohydrates, are converted into glucose and released into the bloodstream to be used as energy. The beta cells in the pancreas sense this change in glucose level and begin to produce and release insulin, which help the cells in the body receive glucose and turn it into energy, or ATP. As glucose is accepted into the cells, blood sugar levels begin to drop.

As a response to this, beta cells and the pancreas produce and release less insulin, keeping blood sugar levels in check.

In a patient with diabetes, the body has lost the ability to naturally regulate blood sugar, resulting in high, uncontrolled levels of glucose in the blood. But diabetes is much more than just an irregularity in blood sugar – these high levels are associated with a long list of complications, the most common being cardiovascular disease, kidney disease, loss of eyesight, poor circulation leading to amputations, and an increased risk of certain forms of cancer. It is also the leading cause of stroke and heart failure.

There are currently more than 29 million Americans and over 380 million people worldwide diagnosed with diabetes. Are you one of them? If so, there's a good chance you're already experiencing some of the complications mentioned above – complications that are slowly stealing away your quality of life. If you have not begun to experience diabetic complications, I urge you to not sleep on this disease. It is a slow and silent killer, and if all you're doing is taking medication, changing your diet and trying to lose weight, it is not enough.

The good news is there may be a way out. A way for you to:

- Reverse your condition
- Reduce and eliminate your need and dependence on drugs and insulin injections
- Lose weight without exercise and radical dieting
- Reduce and eliminate risk for diabetic complications
- Even possibly become "clinically non-diabetic"

Many Type 2 diabetics have already been shown how to virtually beat this condition and essentially walk away from Type 2 Diabetes. But before you can beat it, you need to understand diabetes, its roots, and how it affects your entire body.

What Type of Diabetes Do You Have?

I know you may think you know the answer to this question, but you'd be surprised to learn how often I come across diabetic patients who have been misdiagnosed, or at the very least incompletely diagnosed. There is much more to this classification than you may realize.

In order to answer this question accurately, you first have to understand the difference between Type 1 and Type 2 Diabetes. This is very significant, as a large part of the problem with many so-called "diabetics" is that they've been diagnosed incorrectly, or at the very least incomprehensively. Correctly and comprehensively diagnosing the type of diabetes certainly influences the type of treatment a patient receives, and in turn affects the results of that treatment.

In my experience, one of the main reasons for a poor clinical outcome in a patient with diabetes is due to the lack of understanding of what type of diabetes the patient is affected by, leading to an incomplete or incorrect treatment plan.

Types of Diabetes

Pre-Diabetes

Diabetes is the storm, but the rain shower that signals the approaching storm cloud – pre-diabetes – is equally important in your understanding of this complex condition.

When a patient visits their healthcare provider for a physical or is required to pass a health screening for a life or health insurance policy, a blood test that measures fasting blood glucose level is typically required. If the levels from the blood test are above average, generally between 100 and 125 mg/dl, the patient may be considered prediabetic.

But instead of ascertaining and addressing why a patient's blood sugar level is above normal, many healthcare providers will just warn the patient and advise them to lose weight through exercise and a change of their diet. What is commonly an aimless directive from the healthcare provider often sends the patient down a long, confusing road of fad diets, fruitless attempts at exercise, and other actions that may bring little results and may ultimately be harmful to their health, all because the condition is being mismanaged.

Even pre-diabetics who don't progress to a full diabetes diagnosis still have underlying physiological problems that not only may be causing their pre-diabetic conditions, but also contribute to an overall degeneration of their health.

Instead of being proactive, many healthcare providers are simply reactive. An elevated blood glucose reading often may result in a knee-jerk reaction: instead of looking deeper for the root of the problem, many providers hand

you a cookie-cutter "solution" that is not personalized to your unique health situation and body chemistry.

Ultimately, this practice may be setting you up to fail.

Appropriate management of blood sugar is one of the most important processes that your body performs. Any disruption of the efficient movement of glucose out of the bloodstream and into the cell, where is it converted into ATP for energy, will often disrupt other physiological and biochemical processes, abnormally shift sex hormone status, and create cholesterol and triglyceride abnormalities, among many other negative reactions.

While it all seems like a slippery slope, you typically do not become a diabetic overnight. Diabetes, and especially Type 2 Diabetes, occurs over time and on a spectrum, with normal blood sugar regulation on one end and Type 2 Diabetes on the other.

- 1. Your body struggles to regulate glucose levels, resulting in high blood sugar.
- 2. When high blood sugar is not corrected, you may begin to develop insulin resistance.
- 3. As a result of your acquired insulin resistance, you may develop metabolic syndrome.
- 4. At this point, you are often considered pre-diabetic.
- 5. After years of elevated blood glucose levels, you may be officially diagnosed with Type 2 Diabetes.

When your fasting blood glucose edges over the demarcation line, from 125 to 126 mg/dl, you officially have Type 2 Diabetes. Your healthcare provider will intervene, and likely tell you to diet, lose weight, exercise, and take prescription medication, such as metformin. The thing is, this change in fasting glucose is often just a product of the

many underlying mechanisms that have been at work for possibly the last 15 to 20 years.

Diabetes

Traditionally speaking, there are two categories of diabetes: Type 1 and Type 2. Historically, the type of diabetes a patient is diagnosed with is based on the patient's age at onset.

Type 1 Diabetes is often referred to as juvenile diabetes, and patients are often called "insulin-dependent diabetics."

Patients who are diagnosed in adulthood are typically diagnosed with Type 2 Diabetes, which is often referred to as "adult-onset diabetes." However, as time has passed and diabetes has become more prevalent, these categories are increasingly becoming obsolete, and at the very least incomplete.

We now have a greater understanding of the underlying causes of this disease, so the traditional categories and criteria often no longer accurately represent what is really happening to the patient.

Type 1 Diabetes

Type 1 diabetics typically require insulin because their bodies no longer produce adequate amounts to manage blood glucose. The underlying cause of this for nearly all Type 1 diabetics is an autoimmune disorder, in which their immune system attacks and destroys the insulin-producing beta cells in the pancreas, rendering them insulin dependent. This can ultimately happen at any age.

Type 2 Diabetes

Type 2 Diabetes is more closely associated with what is known as insulin resistance. While we mostly see this condition develop in adults, more and more children of all ages are developing diabetes without an underlying autoimmune disorder (as seen in Type 1), thereby classifying them as insulin resistant.

As diabetes prevalence continues to increase, diagnosis should be increasingly based on the mechanism of action, rather than the age of onset. This, as you will see, is very important for every diabetic.

Type 1.5 Diabetes and Beyond

There is also a lesser known type of diabetes often referred to as Type 1.5. Type 1.5 refers to patients who have both an autoimmune and insulin resistant mechanism as driving forces in their inability to regulate blood sugar.

For example, a patient may develop diabetes in their adult years, and are subsequently diagnosed with Type 2 Diabetes. Their healthcare provider often makes this diagnosis without performing the necessary testing to determine whether or not the patient may also have an autoimmune disorder that contributes to his or her diabetes. Unfortunately, we see many patients who have been diagnosed as insulin resistant but also have an undiagnosed autoimmune mechanism in play. This is one of the major reasons why some patients are unable to successfully manage their condition.

In addition, there is increasing evidence for what some healthcare providers are calling Type 3 diabetes or Alzheimer's disease. You read that right: An accumulating

amount of research indicates that the same insulin resistance behind Type 2 Diabetes may also be a significant mechanism in the development of the memory-disrupting plaques seen in the brains of people with Alzheimer's. Some studies have even found evidence of this plaque in the pancreases of patients with Type 2 Diabetes, inexplicably linking these two diseases.

We know that patients with diabetes are more than twice as likely to develop Alzheimer's, and that obesity and metabolic syndrome alone can cause cognitive dysfunction. The difference is that Alzheimer's is no longer being considered a complication of diabetes; instead, the two conditions appear to share a mechanism of action that equally disrupts the actions of vital cells throughout the body.

To recap, the difference between Type 1, Type 2, and Type 1.5 are the underlying mechanisms that contribute to the disruption of normal blood sugar metabolism.

- Type 1 diabetics are insulin dependent; their pancreas does not work properly most likely due to an autoimmune disorder that attacks the pancreas and negatively affects beta cell activity, inhibiting insulin production. Patients with this underlying mechanism are almost always required to inject insulin in order to properly manage blood sugar levels.
- Type 2 diabetics are often insulin resistant; their pancreas produces insulin, but the cells are not able to utilize it effectively because the receptors are not functioning properly. Type 2 diabetics will often first rely on oral anti-diabetic medication, and many will eventually require insulin injections,

which can cause further insulin resistance and numerous other negative effects on health. It's important to remember that many Type 2 diabetics indeed produce adequate levels of insulin on their own. Still, many are told by their healthcare providers that they do not produce enough insulin.

 Type 1.5 diabetics have autoimmune responses that can directly affect the pancreas, insulin, or insulin receptor sites, and also have insulin resistance.

Symptoms

Now that you understand how diabetes develops inside your body, it's important to be able to recognize the symptoms of those changes, as they are often the catalyst behind many patients' decision to seek medical care.

While there are several types of diabetes, the symptoms of the disease are similar, and can include:

- Fatigue
- Sleep disturbance
- Hormonal imbalance
- Headaches
- Dizziness
- Blurred vision
- Nausea
- Rapid heartbeat
- Aches and pains in joints and muscles
- Weight gain
- Frequent urination
- Insatiable thirst or hunger
- Cuts/bruises that heal abnormally slow
- Weight loss

In addition to general metabolic complications, a person who is insulin resistant and one who commonly has high levels of insulin in their blood can also develop problems associated with abnormal sex hormone levels. These hormonal balances and the symptoms associated with them differ between men and women.

Males

Insulin resistance is often accompanied with a condition called hyperinsulinemia – a medical term that means you have too much insulin in your blood. When this condition occurs in males, the enzyme (aromatase) that converts testosterone into estrogen can become hyperactive, resulting in a male losing his androgen (testosterone) dominance and contributing to estrogen dominance. In other words, a male patient may start to show the hormone profile of a female.

This often becomes what is called a feed-forward bidirectional vicious cycle.

Here's an example of how this plays out: A male patient who is insulin resistant also becomes hyperinsulinemic. As his blood sugar begins to rise, his pancreas produces more insulin in response. The more insulin he produces, the more insulin resistant he is likely to become. The more insulin resistant he becomes the higher his blood sugar levels rise, along with the insulin he needs to produce. The more insulin that is flooded into the bloodstream, the more estrogen dominant the male patient is likely to become.

This type of clinical situation just fuels itself, making it worse over time.

Additionally, increased levels of estrogen in a male may

increase insulin resistance and can increase risk for cardiovascular disease, which is the number one killer of diabetics, along with many other detrimental health effects.

Possible Symptoms of Estrogen Dominance in Males

- Erectile dysfunction (Just because Viagra seems to work does not mean you are fixing the underlying cause of the problem!)
- Decreased sex drive
- Female secondary sexual characteristics: pectoral region starting to resemble breasts; softening of facial features; etc.
- Enlarged prostate
- Increased risk of cardiovascular disease
- Increased risk of estrogen-dependent cancers

Females

Women have the opposite problem. In females, hyperinsulinemia can up-regulate the enzyme 17-20 lyase, causing an overproduction of testosterone. This condition can and is often referred to as polycystic ovarian syndrome (PCOS). PCOS is known to increase the risk for diabetes and is often called a pre-diabetic finding. In fact, many women will develop PCOS long before developing diabetes.

With proper care, many women might have been able to avoid developing diabetes. Just as we see in males, as women become more testosterone dominant, they have an increased risk for cardiovascular disease.

Possible Symptoms of Testosterone Dominance in Females

Male pattern hair growth on the face and body

- Face and body acne
- Inconsistent or absent menstrual cycles
- Infertility
- Increased risk of cardiovascular disease

Typical Treatment of Different Types of Diabetes

The traditional treatment model for diabetes relies on multiple oral and injected medications that aim to control glucose and insulin levels. This is often called the drug therapy or pharmaceutical model. Many of these treatments often fail to address the underlying causes of the disease for the individual patient. Much like putting a bandage on an open wound instead of stitching it closed; drugs and injectables may only be treating the symptoms of diabetes while further masking the underlying cause(s).

Type 1 Diabetes

Type 1 diabetics, those who are insulin dependent, require life-long insulin therapy, either via insulin injections or an insulin pump. With injections, a combination of fast-acting and long-acting insulin is typically used throughout the day to maintain a "safe" blood glucose level. Insulin administered via a pump utilizes a steady dose of rapid-acting insulin to maintain safe levels, known as a basal rate. Proper dosing to account for meals, or a "bolus" dose, requires close monitoring of carbohydrate intake and blood sugar levels. Interestingly, many Type 1 or insulindependent diabetics ultimately become insulin resistant over time, which is one reason why insulin dosing is increased over time in these patients.

Type 2 Diabetes

Type 2 diabetics typically begin treatment with oral

medications meant to lower blood sugar levels by one mechanism or another. Most patients are prescribed metformin as the first line of defense. Patients are typically started at half of the maximum dosage and increased as needed based upon the patient's response. Once the first medication stops producing the desired effect, they are almost always prescribed another oral diabetic medication. It is not unusual at all to see a Type 2 diabetic patient taking three or four oral diabetic medications at the maximum dosage. This does not include the drugs that are prescribed to manage high blood pressure, high cholesterol, high triglycerides, and drugs to protect the kidneys and other organs. In total, it is not surprising to see a Type 2 diabetic patient who is taking eight to ten different oral medications (or more) at once.

When oral medications fail to keep blood sugar levels in an acceptable range, insulin injections are often required. For many patients, this is a dreaded stage of Type 2 Diabetes care. As a healthcare provider, I agree, as once insulin is initiated there is really no other place to turn. If blood sugars continue to rise above desired levels, all there is left to do is increase dosages of insulin to whatever level is necessary to normalize blood sugar levels.

A troubling observation I have made about this stage of diabetes care is that some healthcare providers appear to tell their insulin-dependent patients that it no longer matters what they eat, and that they can eat what they want as long as they adjust their insulin intake to a level that normalizes their blood sugar. If your healthcare provider has ever told you this, I advise you to find a new one, and soon.

What I can tell you is that the more insulin there is floating around in your body, the more likely you are increasing

your risk for poor health outcomes.

As I've previously stated, herein lies the problem: excessive amounts of insulin in a person who is insulin resistant potentially leads to further insulin resistance and complications. Whether the high level of insulin comes from an overactive pancreas or frequent insulin injections, high levels of insulin in the body may exacerbate symptoms and cause other problems, including obesity, high cholesterol, and hypertension. High levels of insulin can also contribute to liver disease, arteriosclerosis, stroke, and coronary artery disease.

Do you see the disconnect? The very treatment you may be using may be making your condition worse and increase your risk for other diseases and health problems. There is no doubt that there is a time and place for these medications, but I think it is clear that they are vastly overused and overprescribed. It would be one thing if patients were improving, not getting worse with time, and enjoying a high quality of life.

However, for many Type 2 diabetic patients, this is not the case. Too many Type 2 diabetics are taking a multitude of drugs and insulin injections, and yet they continue to suffer due to the frustration of unpredictable and erratic blood sugar levels, poor quality of life, weight problems, fatigue, and more.

There has to be another way, right? Well, it certainly appears there is, and if you continue reading, you'll come to understand how my approach to helping patients with Type 2 Diabetes might be able to help turn it all around for you.

Reference

1. "Statistics About Diabetes." *American Diabetes Association*. N.p., 1 Apr. 2016. Web. http://www.cdc.gov/diabetes/data/.

Some Common Myths About Type 2 Diabetes

When you're suffering from a condition that affects every aspect of your life, it's natural to wonder "Why?" or "Why me?"

You may feel angry that you've been born "predisposed" to this condition and are now "condemned" to live with it the rest of your life, or perhaps you feel guilty, thinking that somehow, you may have brought this on yourself. Now you face a future filled with medications that may or may not help you feel better, and may even result in other health problems.

But the truth is that there is a lot of incomplete and inaccurate information being shared about Type 2 Diabetes. Despite what I've already heard from many patients, I continue to be shocked and disheartened by some of the information and so-called "advice" that has been given to Type 2 Diabetes patients. The dangerous part is, the more this type of information is disseminated, the more it has come to be accepted as "the truth."

In this chapter, I'm going to share some common myths that are often circulated through the diabetes community – myths that leave patients feeling both hopeless and helpless, and ones that have led to poor clinical outcomes – and likely even premature death.

Many Type 2 diabetics are told by their healthcare providers that all that can be done is to take one prescription drug after another, diet, try to lose weight, and exercise with the hope of slowing down the inevitable. This false fate not only paralyzes patients with fear, but also perpetuates complacency. Many patients have resigned themselves to the "fact" that they are doing all they can be doing, but in many cases, this is simply not true – not even close.

We know that Type 2 Diabetes is reversible in many cases, but let's first reverse those erroneous and possibly harmful beliefs you may have. I want to give you the most accurate and complete understanding of your condition so you can start to believe that you have the power to regain your health. You can take back control of your life and your health if you have the right tools, and I hope that this information will help to inspire the confidence you need to reclaim the best of you, and not just what is left of you.

Myth #1: Type 2 Diabetes is genetic.

No conclusive evidence says Type 2 Diabetes is linked to any particular gene. In fact, research has indicated that if there was a gene specifically associated with Type 2 Diabetes, it would only be responsible for a very small percentage of the Type 2 diabetic population.

Myth #2: Type 2 Diabetes is familial. It runs in your family.

A condition being "familial" is often misconstrued as meaning the same thing as having a genetic condition, but this is not the case.

Family members often share common habits, including the foods they eat, the activities they partake in, how they deal with stress, and more. In other words, the lifestyle and lifestyle choices you learned from your family have a really big impact on your risk for developing many diseases. If you learned and acquired habits that are not consistent with good health, then your risk for developing the same or similar conditions as your family members can certainly increase. This is one reason why we see numerous family members suffering from Type 2 Diabetes.

However, this phenomenon does not necessarily mean that your condition was predetermined from the start due to your genetics or any one particular gene.

In addition, through the emerging field of Epigenetics, we have come to learn that our environment plays an increasingly large role in how our bodies react to certain influencers. We may have genes that, when active, are responsible for the development of certain conditions, but just because we have these genes does not mean they will be activated. We now know that genes are not necessarily your fate.

Type 2 Diabetes is a metabolic condition that often develops over a long period of time and can be caused by many different factors. It can certainly be caused by an inadequate diet heavy on refined sugars like soda, alcohol, and desserts, but there are many other factors beyond diet that come into play. The causes can be, and are almost always, as individual and unique as each patient.

The concept or possibility that your condition is genetic can also contribute to a lazy approach by healthcare providers and patients alike. Often patients who have been told or believe that they have the condition due to genetics live with a "give-up attitude." Thinking that this is the hand they've been dealt, these patients resign to just learning to live with their disease, but this mindset often proves very destructive for Type 2 diabetics.

Myth #3: You have Type 2 Diabetes because you are overweight.

In my practice, it is often said that being overweight is not the cause of Type 2 Diabetes, and it is also not the solution

There is absolutely a correlation between being overweight and having Type 2 Diabetes. However, correlation is not the same as causation.

Being overweight is often just a symptom of the deeper, underlying problems that are possibly causing your diabetes – problems that are often not contemplated, tested for, diagnosed, or treated. The same can be said for high blood sugar. Type 2 Diabetes is ultimately not a blood sugar disease. Instead, uncontrolled glucose is just another symptom of deeper, more complex problems.

Think of it this way: If being overweight was the cause of Type 2 Diabetes, then one would think that everyone with a weight problem would be afflicted with the condition. This is certainly not the case. Also, how would one account for the many Type 2 diabetics who are not overweight? Clearly, there is more to the equation.

I have seen many patients in my practice who have lost large amounts of weight, but to no avail. Even more troublesome is the push by healthcare providers for diabetic patients to undergo gastric bypass surgery, all under the facade that massive weight loss will rid the patient of their diabetes. This may be the case in the immediate months after weight loss surgery, but that "success" is often short-lived.

Myth# 4: You have Type 2 Diabetes because you do not exercise.

This is a very common misconception and can be a dangerous one at that. When patients are diagnosed with Type 2 Diabetes, they are often instructed to take medication, change their diet, lose weight, and exercise. But in many cases, exercise is not appropriate for the individual patient. Many of the patients I see in my practice are not healthy or fit enough to benefit from exercise. After all, exercise is a stress to the body, and when I evaluate a patient, I have to determine whether that stress is going to be beneficial or not. Much like what was said earlier about genetics and family history, each patient is an individual, and should be evaluated as such.

Truthfully, most of my patients are asked not to exercise for a period of time until we are able to improve the status of their health. This is done to ensure that the stress of exercise does not worsen their current condition or create other health problems.

As I said above, stress from exercise can be helpful or harmful. It depends on the type of stress and your ability to adapt to it. Exercise, when performed by someone who is healthy, will often create eustress. Eustress is stress that benefits the body. It can motivate us to enhance our performance, help our body get stronger, and even increase our sense of well-being. When stress is detrimental to us, it causes distress. Distress places a burden on our bodies and can perpetuate health problems, including Type 2 Diabetes.

Here's another example: When a healthy person lifts weights, it will cause their muscle fibers to tear. Over the

next 24 to 48 hours, those muscle fibers will rebuild themselves stronger and larger than they were before, resulting in healthy muscle gain. However, in a person who is not healthy, weightlifting can cause injuries, like damage to a joint, or in the overall degradation of health. In many cases, especially in patients who have chronic and degenerative diseases, this type of stress is not beneficial, and can even unknowingly create more problems for the patient.

Cardiovascular, or aerobic exercise is also a good example of good and bad stress. In a healthy body, this type of exercise strengthens the heart, lungs, and vascular system in response to the exertion put on those systems during exercise. However, in an unhealthy body, the stress on these organs can be very dangerous, leading to fatigue, muscle and joint damage, inflammation, and a great degree of discomfort for the patient.

Myth #5:

You are Type 2 diabetic because your body or your pancreas does not produce enough insulin.

There is evidence to support that some patients with Type 2 Diabetes may have the condition due, in part, to an inability to produce adequate levels of insulin. However, in my experience, many Type 2 diabetics do not exhibit this problem.

Many Type 2 diabetic patients do produce adequate amounts of insulin, but the problem revolves around the mechanism of insulin resistance and the many factors that promote this phenomenon.

The lack of knowledge surrounding this clinical finding is a common reason why so many Type 2 diabetics are placed

on treatment regimens that may not be in their best interest. Many healthcare providers only address the surface problem of high blood sugar and fail to explore the reasons why a patient is experiencing the symptoms of high blood sugar. Ultimately, the very treatment you are using to make you "better" may actually be making you worse. This is why it is of utmost importance that you understand what is driving your problems and not just taking the drugs that are engineered to tackle the symptoms of your problems.

Myth# 6: Diabetes is a blood sugar problem.

The concept that Type 2 Diabetes is a blood sugar problem is only the tip of the iceberg and thus an incomplete understanding of the condition. For now, just understand the concept that high blood sugar is only a symptom of the disease, not the disease itself. It is a sign that other, more complex systems in your body are not working properly, which is why when we only address glucose levels, we are likely to get poor or mediocre results.

The Take-Away

Ultimately, Type 2 Diabetes has become more or less a wastebasket diagnosis. The label of "Type 2 Diabetes" does not properly characterize what the problem is. Type 2 Diabetes is a very complex condition with many contributing factors – many of which often go undiagnosed and ultimately untreated.

In the next chapter, I'll explore some of these contributing factors. I'm going to uncover the things that many healthcare providers fail to look for, and the reasons behind why you continue to struggle and suffer despite

adhering to your prescribed treatment plan as best you can.

7

Common Causes of Type 2 Diabetes

Throughout the previous chapters, I have emphasized that diabetes is not an all-encompassing, one-stop-shop diagnosis. There are many factors, both physiological and environmental, that go into creating a scenario that promotes the development of Type 2 Diabetes. We know now that it is quite narrow-minded to simply "label" someone as a Type 2 diabetic. This label does not properly characterize all of the health issues that the patient may be facing. More importantly, it does not set the stage for further inspection as to what might be causing or contributing to an individual's inability to regulate their blood sugar.

One of the reasons doctors label someone as a Type 2 diabetic is that it allows them the ability to assign a diagnostic code so they can submit a bill to an insurance company. Medications designated for that specific diagnostic code do not cover all of the health problems that may be contributing to a patient's diabetes. This is a major flaw in the traditional healthcare model: drugs are doled out to patients that don't fully address ongoing issues, subsequently masking but almost never resolving that patient's health problems. The current healthcare model allows for minimal personalization of a treatment plan. Instead, it opts for a cookie cutter approach to treating this chronic illness. Type 2 Diabetes can have many diverse origins in a large patient population.

As someone who practices in a model that many call "functional medicine," I look at specific symptoms simply as pieces of a much larger puzzle. You see, many of the symptoms of your Type 2 Diabetes are hallmarks of more complex issues that are going on deep inside your body. If these deeper problems aren't addressed, then the treatment you're receiving for your Type 2 Diabetes may only be masking those problems, not resolving them. In

other words, you may be taking your medications, injecting yourself with insulin, dieting, and exercising and it still might not be enough. Yes, you could still be in a bad situation despite the above approach, despite blood sugars that are seemingly "in control."

My goal is to figure out *why* you're a diabetic. Let's discover what might be contributing to and/or causing your situation. Let's dig deeper to know the "WHY." Once we know the why, devising a care plan can be much more personalized and targeted to address the specific processes that are adversely affecting your overall health.

Insulin Resistance

Many Type 2 diabetics have been told or are under the impression that they are where they are because their pancreas no longer produces enough insulin. Now in some patients, this can certainly be a part of the problem. However, I will tell you that I have experienced that to be quite rare. In fact, doctors tell many Type 2 diabetics they are not producing enough insulin. This is despite the fact that the doctor most likely never performed the proper test to prove or disprove this possibility. When you have inaccurate information, you will often make inaccurate decisions.

In most cases that I have evaluated, insulin production is completely normal. In many cases the insulin production is excessive, and this is the core problem. Finally, let us assume that the patient is not producing enough insulin. The next question should be "Why?" However, often the reaction is to just supply the body with what it no longer produces, in this case, insulin. This is very short-sided and does not provide the real solution that the patient deserves.

This brings up another point. A good doctor, in my opinion, always asks... "Why?" A good doctor never stops until he or she exhausts all options in an attempt to answer the question... "Why?" Another way to ask this question is... "What is causing that?" A doctor or healthcare provider that hangs his or her hat on genetics, diet, and lifestyle are not looking at the whole picture.

For many Type 2 diabetics, the issue is not a deficient amount of insulin. The issue many times is *insulin resistance*. This means that the body still produces adequate levels of insulin. However, the insulin receptors needed to process the insulin properly do not work well or do not work at all. Insulin resistance is one of the primary mechanisms for Type 2 Diabetics.

I already know what you are thinking. What sense does it make to give someone who is resistant to insulin more insulin? Well honestly, it does not make much sense at all. Again, the drug therapy approach is geared to get the blood sugar down by all means necessary. This is seen as paramount, and when it occurs, this approach is viewed as a successful therapy. The long-term effects of this approach, however, are often not contemplated or considered. I think the thought is when this approach creates problems or allows problems to occur..."We'll just handle that with yet another drug."

There are many reasons that insulin therapy, or even the use of drugs that stimulate more insulin production, can be counterproductive for someone who is insulin resistant.

The research and clinical experience illustrate that the more insulin you secrete and the more insulin you take, the more insulin resistant you are liable to become. I know this is maddening! This is what I have been referring to when I

say that so often the *drug of choice* perpetuates the problem.

Patients and doctors often experience this phenomenon of increased insulin resistance in the face of excessive insulin exposure in the following way: Say, for example, a patient is required to take insulin injections by their prescribing physician. Further, let's say the patient starts with 50 units of insulin. For a while, this dosage may work to lower the blood sugar. Commonly, however, the patient's blood sugar starts to rise. The approach from the doctor is often to increase the insulin. What just happened? The patient became more insulin resistant. One factor in this example is the exogenous (injections) insulin therapy.

As indicated earlier, insulin is a "fat-storing" hormone. So as patients fight to lose weight, their prescribing physicians are often recommending medications that potentially lead to more weight gain.

It is important to understand that insulin is a very inflammatory hormone. Yes, when secreted by your pancreas at normal and healthy levels, it is extremely important. However, when insulin is secreted in excess by your body or put into your body in excess, it can be very devastating to your health.

Insulin can promote insulin resistance, weight gain, and inflammation. Unfortunately, insulin also can promote other negative conditions such as cardiovascular disease and coronary artery disease. Insulin also strains the kidneys and other organs and can be a contributing factor to certain forms of cancer.

So, at the end of the day, many Type 2 diabetics are dealing with insulin resistance. Certainly, there is research

and there are tools that tell us how to combat insulin resistance properly. One of our focuses is to work to restore sensitivity to insulin receptor sites that have become desensitized. This approach is effective, but often only partially effective.

We must ask deeper questions. We must continue to ask... "Why?"... "What is causing that?" In other words, what might be causing the person to be insulin resistant?

What Can Cause Insulin Resistance?

As mentioned, many Type 2 diabetics are dealing with insulin resistance. This is when the pancreas produces enough insulin. However, the receptor sites on the cells do not work properly. This is an oversimplified explanation of how this all works, but this is a book written for *you the patient*. It is not my intention to "high-brow" you or bore you with overly technical explanations.

This cellular failure to properly respond to insulin causes blood sugar to rise and ultimately more insulin to be produced by the pancreas. This vicious cycle often causes a build-up of insulin in the blood (hyperinsulinemia) and also in the tissues. This often leads to more insulin resistance. But, what causes insulin resistance in the first place? And more importantly what is causing it now?

There are many factors that can contribute to the development of insulin resistance. One of them is the over-production of insulin, which is often called hyperinsulinemia. This phenomenon can be caused from your body responding to elevated levels of blood glucose. Whether it is a poor diet or other factors, elevated levels of blood glucose will cause the pancreas to produce large amounts of insulin to try and bring glucose levels down. At

the start, this flood of insulin is manageable, but over time the cells become resistant to it. Tissues and cells become desensitized, with the body no longer able to fully utilize the insulin for proper function. Increased levels of insulin in the blood often cause the body to become more insulin resistant, in turn raising blood sugar levels to dangerous levels. Often a harmful vicious cycle of increasing blood sugar levels and elevated insulin levels is set in motion.

There are a number of other significant factors that can directly or indirectly promote insulin resistance in a patient, including:

- Inflammation
- Infection (acute and chronic)
- Food allergies and sensitivities
- Autoimmune conditions
- Poor diet and lifestyle
- Medications
- Chronic stress
- Obesity
- Vitamin D deficiency

Inflammation is one of the leading factors that can cause insulin resistance, but what is driving the inflammation?

A common answer may lie with acute and chronic infections. These are not the kind of infections that many healthcare providers and patients themselves are used to recognizing. In other words, these infections are what we call "sub-clinical." When many healthcare providers talk about infections, they're thinking about the typical signs and symptoms of infection, such as fever. However, this is not what we are experiencing in our patient population. Instead, we are experiencing and seeing sub-clinical infections: infections that show up in lab results but do not

present with typical symptoms that a patient or healthcare provider might identify as an infection. Unfortunately, although lab results clearly indicate infection, many providers ignore the pattern because the traditional symptoms are not present. This is often a big clinical mistake and leads to poor patient outcomes.

Let me give you an example. Your blood work might show an elevated neutrophil and white blood cell count, but if you're not showing typical outward signs of infection, your doctor might dismiss those higher-than-normal levels. What your healthcare provider might discount as a nonconcern is often properly supported in our practice and the results are often very positive. Just because you aren't experiencing symptoms does not mean that these infections aren't producing a strain on your body. Chronic infections can contribute to inflammation and adrenal stress, as well as the overproduction of cortisol, which may contribute to the development of insulin resistance. This can include weight gain and a weakened immune system. This is just one of many examples of how inadequate testing and evaluation can promote poor results.

You deserve better!

Another major contributing factor is stress – the kind that comes with living in an ever-demanding and stressful environment. So many seemingly healthy people are facing a variety of health challenges because their body is not equipped to handle extended periods of stress, including physical and psychological stress. Whether it is poor lifestyle habits, diet and food sensitivities, long work hours, or unhealthy relationships, all of these lead to an accumulation of stress. At a very basic level, most people have an understanding that stress will create problems. A common way the body responds to stress is the fight or

flight response. During this period, the body produces all of the necessary hormones and physiological reactions so that the body can react appropriately to the stress. When the stimulation ends, so does the physiological response. However, when the body is in a state of chronic stress, the constant stimulation can and often damages the body. Two of the key hormones at work in this situation are adrenaline (epinephrine) and cortisol. Both of the hormones are released by your adrenal glands (stress glands) in response to stress. Both of these hormones play a key role, in addition to a hormone called glucagon, in the increase of blood glucose. The increase in blood glucose in these situations is a key source of energy that your body requires to deal with the stress. In a constant state of stress, you can see how the body may be tricked into constantly producing glucose. This overproduction of alucose can overstimulate the cells, ultimately promoting insulin resistance.

A final thought on stress. For many patients the stress is imperceptible. This is due to our remarkable ability to adapt and reset our norms. If I only had a dollar for every time a patient told me, "I'm not stressed."

Autoimmune conditions are also quite common in patients with Type 2 Diabetes. While there are many people with diagnosable, well-defined autoimmune conditions like multiple sclerosis, rheumatoid arthritis, lupus, and Hashimoto's disease, there is also a large portion of patients who upon laboratory testing show signs of an autoimmune response -- despite not being formally diagnosed with an autoimmune disease. This internal threat to the tissues of the body often causes chronic inflammation and thus can contribute to insulin resistance. The more important point for Type 2 diabetics as it relates to autoimmunity is as follows:

Many Type 2 diabetics are diagnosed with Type 2 solely as a result of the age they are when they develop the condition. In other words, if you are diagnosed more or less in your adult years, you will most likely have a working diagnosis of Type 2 Diabetes.

What we see more and more is that many "Type 2 diabetics" are not comprehensively diagnosed. They may have an underlying mechanism of insulin resistance, but many have an underlying mechanism of autoimmunity. Autoimmunity is the predominant mechanism in Type 1 diabetics, and thus patients who have both an autoimmune mechanism and an insulin resistance mechanism are commonly described as Type 1.5 diabetics.

In my clinical model, it is crucial to be able to isolate all of the mechanisms in a particular diabetic patient, and in particular the mechanism of autoimmunity. A Type 2 diabetic and a Type 1.5 diabetic will almost always require very different treatment approaches.

Are you really a Type 2 diabetic? If you ask your doctor this question and he or she does not take your question seriously, I can almost assure you that you need better guidance. If they say it really does not matter because you have to take the same medication anyway...it's a problem.

Vitamin D deficiency in the U.S., in my opinion, has reached epidemic proportions. I almost never test a patient that has adequate levels of Vitamin D. Not only can a lack of vitamin D negatively impact bone health, your immune system, and various other bodily systems, but it also can be a direct contributor to insulin resistance. The other factor with low Vitamin D is you often have to mega-dose this nutrient in order to normalize the levels. This should and must be done with proper supervision as excessive

Vitamin D can create problems. Another observation with Vitamin D supplementation is you often have to continue to supplement even once levels have been normalized. It is a common clinical observation that when Vitamin D supplementation ceases the levels fall again to unhealthy and unsatisfactory levels.

Another major factor that may contribute to insulin resistance and the development of Type 2 Diabetes is medication. You may be surprised to learn that some medications can actually contribute to or cause diabetes. These include common medications such as glucocorticoids, from over-the-counter steroid creams to prescription medications like Prednisone. Medications for the thyroid, statins for the heart, and estrogen replacement therapies are also known to contribute to the development of diabetes. I encourage you to talk to your prescribing physician about these risks.

You might ask, "Aren't these drugs supposed to be helping me to feel better, not make me feel worse?"

The simple answer is yes. However, many of the medications given to patients with varying ailments are simply used to mask the symptoms of that ailment, not actually to address the cause. All drugs, in one way or another, inhibit normal physiology. Medications are not meant to facilitate normal function; they are used to force the body to do something it can no longer do on its own. While there is absolutely a time and place for pharmaceutical intervention, in my opinion, drugs are grossly overused and are a major contributing factor to many health problems.

Many doctors have become accustomed to measuring success by lab values alone, without a common sense

evaluation of potential downstream negative effects. By basing treatments only on lab markers, doctors are commonly only treating the symptoms, not the cause, and certainly not the whole person. This approach to treatment is often ill-fated, as we now know that many factors can contribute to insulin resistance and ultimately Type 2 Diabetes.

I hope you are beginning to see how these factors contribute to a very complex problem. It's not just a high blood sugar disease or condition, but rather a complex metabolic condition that has potentially many causes. Some of these causes are very obvious and easy to spot, while others are more obscure.

But which of these factors comes first? Figuring out which occurs first – inflammation, vitamin D deficiency, obesity or insulin resistance – is challenging. However, at the end of the day it does not really matter, as it all needs to be fixed.

Connecting the Dots

Can you see how these factors are interconnected? A patient who is deficient in vitamin D and who has a subclinical infection has a weakened immune system and chronic inflammation. Their body is on constant high alert; the physiological stress that the body is under causes the over-production of glucose. Elevated levels of glucose cause the body to produce elevated levels of insulin. When the deep-seated problems, like vitamin D deficiency and infection are not addressed, the body will continue on this vicious cycle until the cells become desensitized, at which point the patient officially develops insulin resistance. Once insulin resistance sets in, the risk of advancing to full-blown Type 2 Diabetes is high.

I hope you now have a better understanding of how a patient might develop Type 2 Diabetes. It's not necessarily because you have bad genes, are overweight, or have poor health habits. These may certainly be aggravating and contributing factors, but I think you can see there is so much more to the story. You do not just wake up one morning and suddenly need an insulin injection to control your blood glucose. Diabetes is an umbrella term that represents many contributing physiological processes that ultimately result in diabetes.

Just as each patient is unique, so is each case of Type 2 Diabetes. Therefore, no patient should be treated exactly the same. In our practice, patients are extensively evaluated so that we may uncover those factors that are contributing to their condition. Once those factors have are identified, we develop a comprehensive, personalized treatment plan that helps to address every aspect of a patient's life so that we effectively address all of the contributing factors to their diabetes.

Don't you think you deserve to find out exactly what is contributing to your diabetes? Don't you want to know if the medication you are currently taking is actually working to help fix the problem, not just mask it?

You deserve to know the answers to those important questions, but if you don't seek out the right kind of care, you may never get them. Don't send yourself down a path of medication overuse and chronic decline.

Our office and clinical model may be able to help you uncover exactly what is causing your illness, and may be able to point you in the direction that will help you be able to begin reversing this condition instead of being relegated to getting worse with time.

8

Epigenetics

Diabetes Runs in My Family

So far, up to this point, you now have a pretty good idea of how my patients are able to REVERSE their Type 2 Diabetes. You have heard me say more than once that it is important to identify the underlying cause(s). Now I know when I say that many, and maybe even you, go right to what you have been indoctrinated to think. Oh, it's my genes, my weight, it runs in my family, I need to exercise, etc. This is what most Type 2 diabetics have been told and what many now believe. Frustratingly, every one of those elements leaves you in a place where there is not much at all you can do to change your situation.

That is to say many Type 2 diabetics can't lose weight despite dieting and exercising. This is because the disease itself is a "fat-storing" condition and many of the medications promote weight gain. So right from the start you are swimming upstream with respect to your doctor's recommendations. In addition, Type 2 Diabetes often promotes a lot of joint pain and also robs you of the necessary energy to do any exercise at all. Finally, many Type 2 diabetics grow quite frustrated with calorie counting, carb-counting, and attempting radical and life-altering diets. In other words, the standard advice of lose weight, change your diet, and start exercising is futile from the start. In addition, those recommendations fail to take into account what is really going on with the Type 2 diabetic population.

So many Type 2 diabetics "toe the line" and attempt to follow their healthcare providers recommendations. When they do not work, as is often the case, the healthcare provider often begins to blame the situation on genetics. This is a very dangerous and limiting proposition as it often promotes a "give up attitude" for all involved. Many patients that I meet with have basically given up and think they are

where they are because they inherited "bad genes." Until now, you may have thought there is little you can do to change the course of your condition. After all, it runs in your family, right?

You are not alone if you believe that you are a by-product of your genes and family heredity. This thought has been propagated for quite some time now. It has become so ingrained in our society that many of us deem it as a fact, having no idea there is more to the story.

Luckily, what was once thought to be written in stone is now being seriously challenged by an emerging field. History is littered with examples of things that were once thought to be solid in fact, only to be questioned and disproven down the line. Old beliefs often die hard.

Like me, I am sure you are all too familiar with the voluminous pages of medical intake forms you are asked to fill out as a new patient in a doctor's office. In addition to basic contact information, the intake forms ask you to list your symptoms and reason for your visit. However, no doctor's new patient questionnaire would be complete without an in-depth inquiry about family history. They ask which family members have had, or have specific diseases or conditions. We start going through our internal database of diseases that run in the family, checking off who had what

While reviewing this "family history," we can't help but get an uneasy feeling when starting to think about our family's lineage of disease(s), wondering if there is any correlation to our current state of health and our symptoms.

For those who have several family members that have had a particularly serious disease or condition, just the thought

of possibly developing "x" can worry you sick! This 'worrying yourself sick' plays a much larger role in your health than you may realize, however, I will discuss this in greater detail later in this chapter.

Succumbing to the belief system that you are a victim of your genes and there is nothing you can do about it leaves one feeling quite helpless and hopeless. You conclude that your health, good or bad, is largely dependent on your genes, and your heredity. Many believe that some people are just lucky and got dealt a good hand and others are not so lucky. This view of health leaves many people feeling like victims of their genes, and often with a resigned feeling that if I can't do anything to change it, why try?

Thankfully, the emerging field of *epigenetics* is gradually changing all of this, and not a moment too soon! I say that because this information I share with you here could forever change the way you view your health, and puts the power of greater health, happiness and well-being in your hands, and not the fate of your family history.

Enter the emerging field of epigenetics. The term epigenetics literally means "above" or "on top of" genetics. But what does this mean to you? How will understanding epigenetics change your health and life?

Of all the information written on the topic of epigenetics, one of today's leading pioneers to bring the findings of epigenetics into the mainstream is cell biologist, Bruce Lipton, Ph.D. The power of the work Dr. Lipton and other researchers have done is revolutionizing the way we look at health, our bodies, and life in general. It is also revolutionizing the healthcare provider's ability to help patients overcome diseases and conditions once thought to be intractable.

A tenured professor at the University of Wisconsin, Dr. Lipton taught cell biology to medical students. However, when he discovered that his findings were so contrary to what he was teaching from the medical texts, he felt he could no longer teach dogma and blatant untruths. He chose to leave formal education and tenure behind. He wanted to continue his research and went on to perform pioneering studies at Stanford University's School of Medicine. After many years of research and study in the field of epigenetics, Lipton shared his findings in a groundbreaking book entitled, *The Biology of Belief* ~ *Unleashing the Power of Consciousness, Matter, & Miracles.*

In his book, Dr. Lipton drives home the point that the far majority of the time, our genes DO NOT play the significant role in our overall health as we've been taught. So if our genes aren't responsible for our health, what is?

The fundamental teaching of his research shows that we are NOT victims of our genes or our DNA. We have been taught to believe by many healthcare providers and some in the media that our heredity has the biggest influence on our health.

Epigenetics teaches that it is our individual (and even our collective) thoughts and beliefs that affect our health, the world we experience, and how this translates to gene expression. Further, and maybe more fundamentally, epigenetics teaches us that our genes, and how they express themselves, are much more influenced by our environment than what was previously thought.

Could it be true? Could our health and wellbeing be almost entirely dependent on our environment, thoughts, beliefs and how we process the world around us? By examining

our environment, beliefs, and thoughts, can we really change our health?

The answer, through research and clinical experience, is a resounding YES!

A poignant fact that Dr. Lipton shares is that "the central dogma was a hypothesis that was never scientifically studied or observed to find out if it was true or not. Everybody just believed it because they were looking for the answer so when the theory came out in 1958, it was only an idea that everyone bought into. By 1968, it was in all the medical textbooks and to this present day, this challenged hypothesis is STILL being taught in medical schools. Everyone forgot that it wasn't a scientific fact but an idea that was written into textbooks and was adopted as fact."

If you search the internet today, what you will find is a multitude of articles STILL referencing genes, family history and their relationship to disease. Is there any wonder why the vast majority of the population still believe that genes control our health and our lives?

For many years now there has been dogma in science called, The Primacy of DNA. This means that DNA is "first cause," and that all things flow from or interact with DNA after DNA has been determined. Our mainstream healthcare model tends to push a theory that we are a biochemical machine controlled by our genes. This does not appear to be the case after all. The THEORY was: You are a victim of your genes, and your heredity.

Epigenetics indicates that genes cannot determine how we function because they are responding to something else, the environment around us, through the receptor sites on

the genes. What makes this of critical importance to us, is that our cells are responding to an invisible field of energy that is molded by our beliefs, so our beliefs control our biology, as do our habits and how well we handle life and its stressors.

Your genes are simply a blueprint of you. Can blueprints build a house? Of course not. Blueprints are merely a guide and aren't capable of building a house or anything else. It takes a contractor to take the set of blueprints the architect prepared to construct the house, step by step. You are the contractor for your body. Genes are a basic guideline that makes up an individual, but like a house, the contractor has "artistic expression" in the final product. The contractor chooses which materials to use when building the house. These choices can make two houses with the exact same blueprints look very different from each other.

How your genes function is dependent on you, its sole contractor. Blueprints, like genes, aren't off or on. Someone or something must turn them on or off. This on/off switch is called gene expression.

Your genes **do not** turn on and off randomly, or by heredity. Though it has been impressed upon us all that genes CAUSE disease, science has now seemingly proven this idea as invalid. Unfortunately, because the mainstream healthcare paradigm bought into this theory since 1958, (and to present day this challenged finding is still being taught in many schools), the majority of allopathic healthcare providers have no idea that what they've been taught is guite challenged and limiting.

Consider cancer for instance. Dr. William Li, MD, Cancer Researcher, President and Medical Director of the Angiogenesis Foundation states that "every single person

absolutely has microscopic cancers growing inside them. We don't get cancer. We provoke cancer. Now that is a powerful statement! He explains that the human body is made up of more than 50 trillion cells that are continuously dividing to keep us healthy. But if just one of those cells makes a mistake or "mutates," then presto, we have formed a potentially microscopic cancer. The good news is that most of these abnormal cells will never become dangerous because our bodies have excellent defenses against cancer."²

So if our bodies are programmed for health, what makes these rogue cancer cells go from relatively harmless to lifethreatening?

Much of it depends on how you interpret the environment and the world around you. Our view of the world causes genes to be expressed (built) in a manner that either supports health and life, or compromises it.

The vast majority of people believe that if you have a family history of diabetes, or cancer, for example, it automatically makes you much more prone to developing it yourself. What I wish to share with you here is that just because the link to family history is so ingrained in all of us, epigenetics has now shown that it does NOT place one at a significantly higher risk for developing that particular disease or condition.

A very interesting study showed identical twins, sharing the exact same DNA since conception but who were raised separately due to adoption, had the same preponderance of getting cancer or not getting cancer, as their non-biological family members. If cancer ran in the family the child was adopted into, they shared the same increased risk of developing cancer as non-blood related family

members.

Life, it seems, changes everyone in unique ways. One twin might get cancer while the other does not. Many identical twins clearly behave differently as they grow older, and some even grow to look less alike. Research found that even though the twins have identical DNA, which is the software for life, what makes the most difference is how the genes express themselves, and how these distinctions chemically modified the genes over the years.

So what chemical modifications are responsible for turning genes off and on?

We live in a physical world, so when it comes to health, it's no surprise that the emphasis is still placed on the importance of diet and exercise when it comes to physical health. Referencing the twin study above, we can say it was the diet and exercise habits of this family that led to the same risk of developing cancer in the adopted child, or perhaps chemicals and toxins this family was exposed to was higher than normal. However, it may surprise you that the latest findings show that our mental and emotional state overrides the physical signal. So regardless how great your diet or exercise program is, if you are feeling "stressed" or upset, the cells in our bodies react to this state first. There are also many other examples of how your environment alters the expression of your genes.

Your Cells Exist in Either Growth or Protection Mode

The 50 to 70 trillion cells in your body at this very moment are highly intelligent. In the average human adult, between 50 and 70 billion cells die each day (due to a process called apoptosis). For an average child between the ages of eight and 14, approximately 20 billion to 30 billion cells

die daily.

Cells exist in one of two modes; Growth mode or Protection mode. Think of Growth mode as Thrive mode. When in Growth mode, cells take in nutrition, damaged parts of cells are rebuilt and waste is eliminated. You are feeling energetic and great! Your body is in a state of homeostasis. In Growth mode, our cells are so intelligent; they know when it is time to die off, allowing for healthy, new cells to replace them. In Protection mode, we experience an entirely different scenario. Think of Protection mode as lockdown mode for your cells. Nothing good gets into the cell, and nothing bad can leave the cell. Damaged, sick cells don't die off as they should and allow mutant cells to begin replicating. This sets the stage for diseases of many types to take root.

So what determines whether our cells are in Growth or Protection mode? One big determining factor is the way in which we handle everyday stress. Studies show that 85% of all trips to the doctor are due to stress. But what is stress really? Stress is fear, worry, and engaging in any thoughts, feelings and emotions that don't feel good in your body. Pain and upset is your body's way of communicating with you. It's important to pay attention to what it's telling you and listen.

Many of us know the importance of reducing stress in our lives but that is often easier said than done. Stress, or distress, plays a very large role in the health of our cells. Our bodies are designed to handle a certain amount of stress as all stress isn't "bad," or distress. But many of us spend way too much time living in a chronically stressed state. All animals, including human beings, were designed to handle some stress, but only in limited quantities. When a gazelle is chased by a lion, the gazelle's sympathetic

nervous systems kicks into gear, releasing hormones that activate the physiological changes needed for the fight or flight response to take over. This surge of hormones give the gazelle the short-term power it needs to safely get away. But the difference between the gazelle and you and me, is that once the threat is over, the gazelle goes back to grazing and forgets all about the incident. We, on the other hand, stay in stressed states for hours, days, weeks, or longer. For a great many of our population, rather than experiencing short-term stress, we live in chronic stress. Your cells receive this stress, throwing your cells into protection mode, as if we were actually being physically attacked, or being exposed to toxins. Because living with stress has become so common in our world, many of us now see it as normal. It may be common, but it is not normal. Further, it is often quite damaging to our health and our lives.

Your body can only endure this perpetual state of stress so long. At some point, the body becomes physically, mentally and emotionally exhausted. So many of us are running on fumes. How you feel on the outside is being transmitted directly to your cells on the inside. When we shut down due to too much stress, so do our cells.

Neuroplasticity

Neuroplasticity is the study of how we can alter our brain, and thus our health, by thought alone. This incredibly fascinating and emerging field has eluded to how incurable diseases and conditions have spontaneously healed, without medical intervention. If it was an isolated incident, it would be considered an anomaly, however, that is not the case. You've probably heard of the placebo effect; how people given sugar pills healed at the same rate or faster than those given the actual drug. So, if we can make

ourselves well through thought alone, wouldn't it also prove to be the case that we can make ourselves sick by thought alone? Understanding this placebo/nocebo effect (the belief that you will get well or sick) is a fundamental aspect of epigenetics.

How Our Beliefs Control Our Biology

Mind over matter is in essence what epigenetics is all about. Your mind is an incredibly powerful tool when it comes to your health and how you experience the world around you. Depending on your overall "view" of the world, your thoughts will tend to lean toward being generally positive or negative. Most of us are not 'all or nothing' in this area, but if you're honest with yourself, you know if you tend to look on the positive side, or what's good about a given situation, versus the negative side and what's wrong. Whether you are a "glass half full," versus "glass half empty" type of person, your thoughts are contributing a lot more to your overall health and wellbeing than you may realize.

We have approximately 50 trillion cells in our body. What most people are unaware of is that every one of those cells is listening to everything you think, say, or do.

When we recall a happy memory for instance, we feel lighter because we are tuned into elevated frequencies. These thoughts and memories, good or bad, impact our physiology the same way. Happy thoughts make us feel good. Sad or angry thoughts make us feel bad. This is due to the way our brain is wired. When thinking of a past event, your body doesn't know if it's happening right now or 20 years ago. Whatever feelings are associated with that past event, we re-experience the same energy in our cells as we did when having the experience. This is why it is

important to apply forgiveness as often as is necessary and learn to let upsetting thoughts and feelings go, sooner as opposed to later.

When it comes to health, believing that you are (or can become) strong, healthy and thriving, impacts your health at the cellular level. Unfortunately, for many people who are dealing with a chronic condition, the belief is that they'll never be completely healthy again. This belief is not just in their head, but gets firmly rooted in their cells, making it a self-fulfilling prophecy. Change your thoughts and your physiology must follow!

Thoughts are very real. They don't just stay within the confines of your mind. They are being perceived by every one of your 50 trillion cells, 24/7.

It is said that all emotions stem from only two true emotions ~ love or fear. Wayne Dyer reminds us "Loving people live in a loving world. Hostile people live in a hostile world. Same world."

If you view the world around you as loving and supportive, your health and happiness will reflect it. If you view the world and life as threatening, and something to fear and stress over; that you are doomed to live with disease and other problems, then you will create that, too.

Mindfulness is a powerful tool, that once learned and applied, allows you to direct your thoughts to allow those that support health and life. Practicing mindfulness helps bring awareness into your daily life, giving you the opportunity to cancel out the negative, fearful thoughts, and replace them with healthier, happier ones. Becoming the observer of your thoughts, feelings, and beliefs, puts you in a much better position to modify them in a way that

supports the life you desire. Your mind energy is far more powerful than you know. See it as your number one ally in overcoming anything you wish to change. This is epigenetics in action!

"Your thoughts create an inaudible sound that creates a frequency that creates matter that creates your physical world." - Pamela Gregory

Sources:

- 1. Lipton, Bruce H. *The Biology of Belief: Unleashing the Power of Consciousness, Matter and Miracles.* Santa Rosa, CA: Mountain of Love/Elite, 2005. Print.
- 2. "Dr Oz: Cancer Truths. All Of Us Has Cancer Cells Growing Inside! and More.." *ANewDayANewMe*. N.p., n.d. Web. 27 July 2016.

9

The Foundations of Good Health

As I have stated a few times, many Type 2 diabetics are often just told to take their medications, lose weight, change their diet, and exercise. If any more information is provided it is often in the form of a pamphlet or a general class on nutrition provided by a nutritionist or registered dietician. So often that information is general in nature and very flawed. Despite this type of information, Type 2 diabetics often find themselves having to "go-it-alone" and begin to look for more specific and detailed information through books and the internet. The problem with all of this is none of that data is designed for you as an individual. How do you know if it's right for you? Many patients think that if the information is for Type 2 diabetics, then it applies to them. I cannot tell you how misguided this belief can turn out to be.

Although I cannot possibly begin to tell you in a book what you should do to begin reversing your condition, I can share with you some basic health practices that may help support your body.

Overall health and wellness is maintained by a handful of factors that I like to call The Foundations of Good Health. These individual foundations can often be combined to support what is called homeostasis – a baseline in which your mind and body are in balance, working together efficiently to make sure that all of your body's systems are operating as they should. So often healthcare providers and patients forget the essentials for setting the body up for success. Further, I have often seen patients who just do not have a clear idea about how to manage their bodies.

These parameters include diet, exercise, general nutrition, sleep, hydration, stress reduction, bodywork and having a good support system. All make individual but significant contributions to your overall health. Making sure that you

fulfill these categories properly can help maintain good health in a person with no health problems and can also help a person with chronic health problems like Type 2 Diabetes.

If these basic foundations are ignored through poor diet, inactivity, lack of sleep and more, your body's systems will become strained and likely begin to malfunction. If you do not fuel your body with the correct foods, it will not have the strength or ability to generate the compounds it needs to give you energy. If you fail to get at least mild to moderate physical exercise, your cardiovascular system may begin to fail you, becoming sluggish and weak. If you stay up into the wee hours of the morning watching television, and fail to fall asleep and wake during normal hours, you will possibly find yourself with brain fog: your body is unable to reset itself to take on the challenges of the next day. Our bodies are pretty resilient, but at the end of the day they require basic care and maintenance to function properly.

Are you currently experiencing any of these deficits? Are you struggling to break old habits and adopt new ones? I can help you with this process, but the best way for me to help you is to show you how to help yourself. If you don't understand the gravity that these foundations have on your health, what will keep you committed to fulfilling them when you have a tough day? Understanding how each of these foundations plays a significant role in your everyday and long-term health will not only make you a better patient but a better person. Fulfilling these foundations correctly will not only help you to maintain physical health but also mental health, which plays a significant role in helping to maintain proper health of your body's internal systems.

I'm going to share with you, in as much detail as possible,

The Foundations of Good Health so that you can start making positive changes to your lifestyle today that will help you get and stay on the road to recovery and sustained good health.

Diet

As a person with Type 2 Diabetes or a loved one of someone affected by the disease, you need to be fully aware that what you put into your body has a direct effect on how your body feels, how it functions, and the state of your overall health.

You may have been told in the past that what you eat doesn't really matter, but that is just not true. If you constantly exercised but ate poorly at every meal, exercise would not be enough to overcome the damage of poor nutrition. It would also not be enough to help your body generate the compounds it needs for proper function.

Ultimately, the saying "You are what you eat" could not be truer. How our body behaves is often a direct reaction to what we put in it. Food has a truly cause-and-effect relationship with your body, and if you don't fuel your body with the proper nutrients, the result will be less than optimal.

In a world as filled with sweet treats as ours, I recognize that it can be especially challenging to resist such temptations. But it comes down to this: What do you want more? The instant gratification of eating a brownie or enjoying a long, healthful life for not only yourself but also your family?

In my office, I will help you to relearn habits, replacing the bad ones with good ones. After all, you can't have health

habits that are inconsistent with health and expect to be "healthy."

The amazing thing is this: once you reprogram your habits to be healthy, you will realize that it is easier and much more gratifying to be healthy than to deal with the consequences of poor health choices.

As a Type 2 diabetic, you must be aware of foods that are high on the glycemic index and ultimately cause abrupt glucose spikes. There are obvious foods that fit into this category such as soda, cookies, candy, cakes and alcohol, but there are also many other types of foods that people don't realize turn into sugar quite rapidly. These include foods that are high on the glycemic index, including breads (of all kinds), pasta, rice, potatoes, beans, and corn. For instance, corn is a grain, not a vegetable, and is a major contributor to spikes in glucose. Starchy vegetables like peas, potatoes, squash and yams are also high in carbohydrates and in turn can contribute to unhealthy alterations in your glucose level. A diet high in these sugary, starchy foods, even those considered vegetables. can contribute to the development of Type 2 Diabetes or can make the condition worse.

Ultimately, a "hunter-gatherer" diet plan much like the one our predecessors thrived on will suit a Type 2 diabetic best. This means eating protein – specifically animal protein like chicken, beef, turkey, lamb, eggs and fish – for all three meals per day along with vegetables. Visualize this: if you divided your plate into four sections, one section would be filled with a lean protein, and the remaining three would be filled with a variety of vegetables. That might seem like a lot of vegetables, but they are packed full of the nutrients that your body needs to function well and are an essential part of any healthy diet. I also advise my patients to eat

fruit as a snack between meals. Yes, fruits have sugar in them; however, the cells in your body process fructose differently. And for most patients – but not all – fruit can be a healthful snack.

It is important for me to reinforce that the information being provided here is of a general nature. I have found this approach to be the right one for most situations, but not all. This is just a guide for you to consider as you look to improve your health habits and get on the road to recovery.

It's important to note that I advise my diabetic patients not to become vegetarians. Clinical experience has shown that eating animal protein is a key component to supporting normal blood sugar metabolism. Additionally, vegetarian-based diets struggle to fulfill the full spectrum of nutrients that a patient eating a hunter-gatherer diet will ingest. These nutrients are essential to helping your body return to homeostasis. I also advise my patients to avoid dairy products, as well as gluten, soy and wheat. Why? Many of these foods and compounds are common food allergies and sensitivities that often contribute to inflammation. While some patients are aware of these sensitivities, many are not, and in turn are doing unknown damage to their body by continuing to ingest these foods.

What kind of food you eat isn't the only thing that matters when it comes to your meals. Where your meal came from can also play a role in how your body processes and uses up the fuel you are feeding it. You should be – within your budget – sourcing out quality foods that are organic and grown without pesticides, herbicides, hormones, antibiotics, nitrates, and genetically modified organisms (GMOs). All of these things potentially pollute your body, depositing toxins into your cells and altering the way your body processes fuel and functions.

In the end, a healthy diet isn't about cutting out whole food groups or calories; it's about eating foods that will fuel critical systems and thus your overall body. You should be eating often. A general guideline is to eat something every two hours. Some patients need to eat even more frequently. Fueling your body with healthy foods takes pressure off of vital systems that are commonly not working properly, thus allowing them the opportunity to return to normal function. Your day should consist of three main meals and then snacking throughout the day on healthy foods. This strategy not only takes pressure off of organs and systems that are already struggling, but can also be a good strategy to control binge eating and making poor choices.

It is important to understand this concept when you are structuring your food intake and particularly when eating frequently. When we are trying to heal we are not necessarily eating because we are hungry, but rather eating to fuel our body. We are eating to deliver vital nutrients and fuel to an ailing body. This means sometimes you will eat according to plan despite not being hungry. Please do not take this advice the wrong way. I am not giving you a license to gorge yourself during meals and snacks. You can and should still eat modestly and reasonably.

Sleep

After diet, sleep is one of the most important functions essential to the maintenance of good health. Sleep is absolutely crucial and I cannot stress this enough. Sleep is the time when your body and mind repairs and resets itself, working towards homeostasis. A proper amount of sleep is what allows you to wake up feeling renewed and refreshed. When you don't get enough sleep, your body

does not have ample opportunity to perform these renewal processes that are crucial to your overall health.

Due to our culture and the vast expectations that our lifestyles and work schedules demand of us, it is often challenging to get enough sleep. Getting home after a long workday and then staying up to watch television into the late hours of the night is not healthy. Our bodies are meant to be awake when it is light out, and asleep when it is dark out. Ultimately, going to sleep at 8 or 9 p.m. and waking when the sun rises is a good strategy.

Sleep needs vary from person to person; however, everyone needs proper sleep in order to give their body a chance to complete the full, restorative sleep cycle. This includes both rapid eye movement (REM) sleep and nonrapid eye movement sleep. These cycles are part of the circadian rhythm, which regulates the body's sleep and wake cycle throughout a 24-hour day. This rhythm also influences the secretion of cortisol by the adrenal glands. If it is interrupted, it can adversely affect cortisol levels, which you have learned plays a significant role in glucose control. Allowing your body enough time to move through these cycles is crucial for long-term wellness – and simply for the fact that you'll feel more alert and energetic the next day. Many people will complain that they just simply cannot get to sleep at night at a reasonable time and they also have difficulty staying asleep. I certainly understand this dilemma and have experienced it with my patients. My advice is to work towards the goal of going to sleep around 8 p.m. (no later than 9 p.m.) and looking to rise when the sun comes out. Begin to set up your life to allow for sleep at an appropriate time and push yourself to get up each morning when the sun rises. Getting up when the sun rises despite still being tired will often create a scenario where you are able to go to sleep earlier and earlier each night.

So remove distractions like the internet, TV, work, housework, etc. that may be standing in the way of getting to bed at the suggested time. Your health must be more important and move up to the top of your "to do" list in order to make progress.

While the length of time you sleep is very important, it is of equal importance that you sleep in an environment that is conducive to great sleep. Ideally, you should try to sleep in a room with complete darkness – no light from night-lights, cell phones, alarm clocks, etc. You should also adjust the temperature in the room down to approximately 66-69 degrees Fahrenheit. That may sound quite chilly, but the cool environment will allow your body to properly regulate its temperature and produce the ideal physiological conditions for sleep. Another major component to good sleep is avoiding the use of electronic devices at night. including televisions, cell phones, e-readers, tablets, and laptop computers. In fact, I recommend not having these near you while you are preparing for sleep or sleeping. Exposing your brain to bright sources of light during nighttime can actually disrupt your body's natural sleepwake cycle, making it more difficult for you to fall asleep, stay asleep and get quality sleep.

General Nutrition

Maintaining a healthy, balanced diet filled with lean protein and vegetables is an excellent start to lifelong health; however, many individuals discover that their bodies are still deficient in essential vitamins and nutrients. Regardless of your health status, supplementation of vitamins and nutrients is a smart choice for most people. Some of the key supplements that I recommend to my patients are Vitamin D-3, Omega-3 fatty acids and probiotics. Other supplements to consider are adaptogenic

herbs, including ginseng, holy basil and licorice root, among others, that have specific properties to help return physiological balance to your body. Most people, regardless of where they fall on the "healthy" spectrum, are deficient in these categories and can benefit from the added boost of nutrition.

When selecting supplements, you should check for quality ingredients and make sure the brand has a good manufacturing reputation. It is important to consult your doctor prior to starting any kind of supplement, but generally, adding these vitamins and nutrients into your routine will help you on your path to better health.

Exercise

Once you work on improving your diet and nutrition and getting enough sleep to refresh and renew your body, you should consider starting an exercise program. After all, movement is life and living a sedentary life alone can increase your risk of disease and premature death. Movement is key to blood flow, lymphatic drainage, and other essential processes that keep your body working at its best.

Depending on your state of health and fitness, exercise may or may not be appropriate for you. It's important to ease yourself into any kind of exercise program and do so with the supervision of a qualified healthcare provider.

Generally, most people can benefit from a very basic activity level, such as a mild to moderate walking program. The most important thing I like to stress to my patients is that exercising does not need to be complicated! Keep it simple and you will see results as long as you stay committed to your program.

A great tool to help monitor your progress is a heart monitor. There are many fitness and heart rate trackers out there that are readily available for purchase, but I personally prefer the monitors that you strap around your lower chest. These monitors are especially accurate and can help increase your awareness of your ideal heart rate range that keeps your body in a fat-burning exercise zone. Consult your healthcare provider as to what your ideal heart rate zone would be to make sure that you are not over-exercising. Exercising at too intense of a level could really be harmful to your health so it is always best to take it easy when you start and build up as you go forward. The key is to stay active and keep moving, even if it is at a very low intensity.

So many of my patients come to me feeling completely confused about exercise. What is the best exercise for me? How should I exercise? How long should I exercise? The thing is, it doesn't need to be complicated or too involved. Exercise is movement and movement can be whatever you make it. A lot of people struggle to fit exercise into their daily routines due to the demanding lives that we lead, but there are opportunities throughout your day where you can incorporate simple exercises. For those of you who work at a desk all day, getting up and walking around for 10 to 15 minutes every hour, standing and stretching, or working standing up can make a small but positive impact on your health.

Exercise doesn't just benefit your physical health, either. Performing exercise releases endorphins, which can help to boost your mental state. Exercise can also help to reduce stress, help you to sleep better at night and help you feel more energized during the day.

When it comes to exercise, generally something is better

than nothing, and performing even moderate physical activity several times per week can help improve your overall health significantly.

Stress Reduction

In a world where we are constantly on the go and always asked to produce, it is incredibly important to learn strategies to help deal with stress. Whether we realize it or not, stress impacts us physiologically. When you are able to deal with stress in a healthy manner, you are giving your body the opportunity it needs to heal itself from the demands of everyday life.

You learned previously that chronic stress could wreak havoc on your body as a diabetic. Having strategies to properly manage your stress in a positive way is a key component to taking control of your life and health.

Some strategies and activities to help you deal with stress include meditation, prayer, exercise, spiritual development, social activity, and self-development. Performing these activities can help teach you how to deal with outside stressors, whether it is what's happening on the news, at work or at home. Learning how to utilize tools like meditation and spiritual development can help to condition your mind and body how to deal with stressors in a controlled manner. Self-development, including self-help books and other resources, can help to teach you how to take the proper, positive perspective in trying times. All of this will help you reach homeostasis, keeping your body's systems in balance and working together properly. At the end of the day, I have learned that many people just lack the tools to deal with our ever-increasing stressful lives properly. It's all about finding and implementing a few tools to help you on a daily basis.

Hydration

Hydration is crucial to every process that our body performs; including blood sugar regulation, yet many people are chronically dehydrated. Why? Most fluids do not necessarily contribute to hydration. When I talk about hydration, I am talking about water – pure, clean water. Coffee, tea, soda, juices and other beverages do not count towards your daily hydration since all of the additives change how your body processes the liquid, and some of them have the potential to dehydrate you.

The quality of your water is nearly as important as the quantity. The reality is that our tap water is compromised by chlorine, fluoride, bacteria, other chemicals and biological matter. You should use a filtration system in order to help rid your drinking water of these substances so that you are hydrating your body with the purest water available. The vessel from which you drink is also an important component to consider. Drinking from BPA-free bottles and avoiding plastics can help you avoid contact with unwanted toxic materials.

Regarding quantity, the much-publicized eight glasses per day are far less than what I recommend to patients in my practice. Typically, I recommend that my patients set a target to drink half their body weight in ounces of water per day. After all, our bodies are mostly water, and it is a crucial element that helps keep all of the body's processes functional.

Body Work

When I talk about bodywork, I'm referring to taking care of joints and muscles. While our organs and cells work to keep our body functioning from the inside out, our

musculature and frame is what allows us to keep active and engaged in healthy activities. Further, there is a strong correlation between the physical structure of your body and how systems and organs function.

Our daily schedules are extremely tough on our physical bodies – repetitive motions, sitting all day long, poor posture, you name it. All of these things take a toll on our muscles and bones, wearing them down and tiring them out. In order to help avoid fatigue and wear and tear, you should consider experimenting with alternative types of care, which are now quite mainstream, including massage therapy, acupuncture, chiropractic care and physical therapy. All of these can help rehabilitate and keep your physical body feeling its best.

If you have diabetes and are dealing with weight control issues, it is even more imperative to try and maintain the health of your muscles, joints and connective tissues. Excess weight puts added stress on your joints and inactivity can cause your muscles to deteriorate over time. All of these things can make adopting a new, healthier lifestyle more challenging, especially in the beginning. The good news is that healthy habits including a better diet and more physical activity can help restore the strength you may have lost. Investing in different types of bodywork during this period may help make the transition easier, helping your body to recover physically from potential new challenges.

Support System

The last but certainly not least important Foundation of Health is having an excellent support system by your side to help guide you through the ups and downs of health. Regardless of your health status, you should work to

surround yourself with healthcare providers, friends and family that advocate for you and support you. This is especially important when you are trying to overcome something as serious and difficult as Type 2 Diabetes.

Knowing that you have an advocate by your side that has your best interests in mind should make you feel more confident in your journey to better health. Good communication skills are a huge asset and as a patient you should seek out a provider who makes you feel comfortable, who challenges you and who you feel listens to your concerns and communicates a treatment plan efficiently.

Creating and nurturing a positive relationship with your physician, other healthcare providers, friends and family will help to ensure that you have people who are watching out for you – people who will help keep you accountable to reach your goals of better health.

Ultimately, you can see that there is a lot more to being "healthy" than simply taking medications that artificially try to return your body to its normal state. A state of good health involves many components of mental and physical well-being, from a healthy, nutritious diet to adequate sleep and hydration. Deficiency in any one of these categories can cause your body to function at a sub-optimal level, and ultimately contribute to the development of chronic disease, including Type 2 Diabetes.

In my practice, I take the whole-body approach to improving your health in order to conquer your Type 2 Diabetes from every angle. As I've discussed earlier in this book, Type 2 Diabetes is the result of a much deeper, complex problem that is taking place inside your body. By working to improve these individual foundations of health,

we can help restore balance to your body, correcting the problems from the inside out and addressing your disease with an all-encompassing plan that will help to create new, healthy and sustainable habits.

10

Success Stories

"Originally my HA1C was over 8.0, and all the doctors wanted to do was give me more medication. The medication that they gave me made me really sick. I was told by my doctors that this is the way it will be for the rest of my life. I started working with Dr. Shumard and within one month I dropped 20 pounds with no exercise. After four months I was off all medications, my HA1C dropped down to 5.3, and I lost 67 pounds. I am wearing clothes that I haven't worn in over 18 years. All my symptoms are gone, my energy is improved, and I feel a lot better. Initially my goals were to reverse the diabetes to prevent future complications and to get off the medications. The weight loss was just an extra bonus. So many things are better now."

Arthur Z.

"I can't tell you how pleased I am with the results I have had under Dr. Shumard's care. My doctor is very happy with the results, particularly with my numbers and how quickly they have dropped. When I started with Dr. Shumard my HA1C was an 8.0; now it is a 6.3 in just 11 weeks. Everything Dr. Shumard said would happen has, and I feel very confident under his care."

Paul P.

"When I initially started working with Dr. Shumard I was overweight, had Type 2 Diabetes, high cholesterol, high blood pressure, and was on all sort of medications. Initially I was very skeptical in the promises that were made, but the promises were all kept. I am off most of my medications, I have lost most of my weight, and I am expecting to be off all my medications in the next few months. I asked my doctor if he saw an individual with my current numbers would he say this individual has Type 2 Diabetes, and he said 'no.' I would recommend Dr. Shumard to anyone. The key is that you need to do what

he recommends. It works!"

Ed B.

"When I started with Dr. Shumard I was 30 pounds heavier and my HA1C was 7.3. My HA1C is now 5.9 and I am about to get off all my medications, including two blood sugar medications, cholesterol medication, and blood pressure medication. I highly recommend Dr. Shumard."

Steve C.

"I started with Dr. Shumard about five weeks ago. At that time my blood sugars were around 348 in the morning, and now they are at 87 in the morning. I have noticed a big improvement in my activities, energy level, and I feel better about myself. It's working!"

Teresa M.

"My HA1C before I started working with Dr. Shumard was at 10.3. After three months of care my HA1C went down to 6.0. Now my HA1C is a completely normal 5.6. I would highly recommend Dr. Shumard's treatment to anyone."

Patricia I.

"I have been struggling with diabetes for over 10 years. I did not want to continue with taking medication. I have been working with Dr. Shumard for about a month now and my blood sugar this morning was 97. I am glad I found Dr. Shumard and his program."

Jose

"When I initially came to see Dr. Shumard I was pretty much feeling rock bottom. My blood sugar was nearly 300 and I was taking multiple medications. But in the last 30 days it has steadily gone down. Yesterday it was at 98. I feel a lot better."

James S.

"While working with Dr. Shumard I have increased my energy, lost weight (from 235 to 198), and have been able to increase activities. If you have Type 2 Diabetes, I suggest you find a way to visit Dr. Shumard. If you are serious about getting better, then Dr. Shumard is the doctor to come and see. He is a blessing."

Gary W.

"It has been an amazing journey since I started with Dr. Shumard. He has helped me get my blood sugars under control and reduce my medications. I feel great, my energy has improved, and I am more in tune with my body. This has been the best decision of my life."

Caleb N.

"Before I started with Dr. Shumard my HA1C was at 6.9 and I was told that if it increased any further that I would be put on another medication. I had extreme pain in my hip and could not walk more than two blocks, my energy level was zero, and I needed medication to sleep. Since working with Dr. Shumard my blood sugars have normalized, I have no pain in my hip, my memory is back, and I am feeling 100% better. I thoroughly recommend Dr. Shumard."

Ginger G.